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Welcome to sin city
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Bring on the bling
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ASIA IN
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NEW LIGHT
Immerse yourself in an art gallerythemed bar that manifests Asian
cultural evolution like no other.
www.lunar.sg
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Letter to Shareholders

We look back on the last financial year as one of change for LifeBrandz.
We now boast a portfolio of almost entirely new brands from two years
ago, a reflection of our commitment to staying on the cutting edge
of the entertainment scene by continually pushing the envelope and
bringing new concepts to party-goers.
The operating environment continued to be challenging as the Singapore economy moved
into recession amidst a global economic downturn from which we are only just starting
to emerge. While there have been initial signs of a turnaround, we continue to maintain
a cautious and conservative outlook for the current financial year. At the same time, we
also remain on the look-out for suitable opportunities to bring our branded entertainment
concepts to markets that present more exciting growth potential for the Group.
The retirement of Aurum, Barfly, Bice and Ministry of Sound in 2008 was followed by the
closure of Balcony Bar in July this year following the expiry of its lease. Fashion Bar also
closed a month later. Building on the success of the popular Lunar, we launched Asian fusion
bar, YUE in September 2008. Two months later in November, we unveiled three exciting and
distinctive concepts, ZIRCA, Yello Jello and Rebel, in the premises that formerly housed the
Ministry of Sound. Most recently in September 2009, we added Irish concept bar, Mulligan’s
Irish Bar & Borgata Trattoria Osteria to our portfolio.
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Our newest brands have been recording strong performances,
and stalwarts Lunar and Café del Mar continuing to pull in
the crowds. However, we were nonetheless impacted by the
deteriorating consumer sentiment. Group revenue fell 20%
from S$38 million to S$30.4 million due to the recessionary
environment, and also from the two months’ closure of
former Ministry of Sound premises prior to its revamp. The
new concepts also occupy a smaller area, which accounts
for a smaller revenue contribution. Service charge was also
abolished at a number of our branded venues, resulting in a
70% drop in revenue from service charge surplus.

Although our losses widened from S$7.8 million to S$11 million
in FY2009, but for the various write-offs, our losses would have
in fact narrowed to approximately S$3.9 million.

Total expenses incurred fell in tandem with revenue, dropping
14% from S$50.6 million to S$43.6 million from the previous
financial year. All major expense items continued to record
declines. Expenses from employee benefits fell 30% from S$14.7
million to S$10.3 million thanks to ongoing restructuring. Rental
from operating leases fell 8% from S$4.7 million to S$4.3 million
as rates were calculated as a percentage of turnover. Expenses
from fees and licences registered a fall of 66% from S$1.3
million to S$456,000 following our termination of the Ministry of
Sound licence in October 2008. Associated with this, legal and
professional fees also fell 36% from S$1.4 million to S$912,000
as the lawsuits with Ministry of Sound International Ltd were
settled. Finance costs showed the largest proportionate decline
of 78% from S$269,000 to S$59,000 as the Group repaid most
of its borrowings. While cost of goods remained relatively
constant, gross margins have improved slightly from 73.79% in
FY2008 to 75.06%.

Looking ahead, we maintain a cautious outlook. Despite the
encouraging first signs of a recovery, there is no certainty
as to whether the upturn will be a meaningful and sustained
one. However, we remain positive on the potential for growth,
particularly in markets outside of Singapore and will continue
to maintain an active look out for opportunities to deliver our
branded entertainment concepts to a wider audience. In
Singapore, we look forward to the opening of the integrated
resorts in the coming months and believe that these will
provide a much-needed shot in the arm to the local F&B and
entertainment industry.

In compliance with the Singapore Financial Reporting
Standard, we recorded S$5.2 million in write-offs for property,
plant and equipment in relation to the closures of Barfly,
Bice, Fashion Bar and Ministry of Sound. S$792,000 in preoperating expenses was incurred for projects that did not
eventually materialise. S$632,000 was also provided towards
the impairment of intangible assets from the closure of Fashion
Bar and the termination of the Buddha Bar project in Macau.
Following the termination of the Cannery Card scheme, we
also provided S$225,000 for doubtful debts for membership
spending arrears.

It is worth noting also, that the write-offs do not impact our cash
flow position. In this regard, our cash and cash equivalents
dipped to S$2.6 million at the close of the year as we continued
to pare our bank borrowings. Our cash position has since
improved with the receipt of S$5.1 million in net proceeds from
a rights issue in the month following the end of the financial year
under review.

In line with ongoing cost management, we will continue
to exercise prudent financial administration, and improve
efficiencies whilst maintaining a close watch on ongoing
operating costs.
Last but not least, I would like to extend my appreciation to
our management and staff who have worked tirelessly in these
challenging times. I would also like to thank our customers,
business associates and suppliers for their continued support,
encouragement and assistance.
Finally, a sincere thank you to our shareholders. We look forward
to your confidence and support in the coming year.
Clement Lee
Executive Chairman
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Ibiza in Sentosa

Cafe del Mar is a perfect blend of Spanish sensuality and Miami glitz. Groove
to the cool, sexy beats while savouring tapas and sipping on sangrias in the
sultry sea breeze while live bands and DJs play above the pool bar.

Check out www.cafedelmar.com.sg and experience the most stylish beach party in town.

NEW BRANDZ OF 2009
Zirca treats partygoers to a sensory
journey every night. Combining live
entertainment and dance floor experience,
Zirca takes you to a land of unadulterated
audio visual bliss, complete with head
banging music ranging from electro
to house, progressive and trance
accompanied by stunning visuals.

the year’s

hottest
spots

Attitude meets unconventional chic in
this urban hip-hop boutique club. Awardwinning resident DJs and guest MCs keep
the dancefloor pumping every night.

Mulligan’s is all about the authentic Irish
pub experience. Its inviting, warm and
rustic interior feels just like coming home
as antique Guinness, Irish liquor posters,
artwork and photos decorate the walls,
completing the quaint Irish charm.

Lifebrandz continues to
redefine the clubbing scene in
Singapore. This year, we bring
in five new lifestyle concepts and
introduce partygoers to a whole
new level of nightlife entertainment.

Yello Jello celebrates
chart-topping hits and
retro funk disco mixes
from the golden years of
rock and roll.

Borgata offers a true, traditional Northern
Italian style menu with an extensive Italian
wine selection in a cheery classically
Italian setting.
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2009 EVENTS

Life of the

party

We set Clarke Quay’s nightlife on fire
and breathe new life into Singapore’s
clubbing scene.
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HIP HOP ROYALTY. Hit the dance floor with
award-winning resident DJs: Turntable maestro
DJ Tang, Scratch master DJ Rattle, Groove
Machine DJ Will.
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Sounds

BUSINESS REVIEW

sights
flavours
LifeBrandz manages a portfolio of nightlife
entertainment brands. Since we focused
our business on the F&B and entertainment
industry about two years ago, we have
in that short space of time established
ourselves as a leading operator in
Singapore’s vibrant and growing tourism and
entertainment scene. Our main strengths lie
in our ability to stay ahead of trends in the
nightlife entertainment industry by continually
looking to introduce exciting new concepts
and developing, identifying or acquiring
brands to cater to the local market.

In FY2009, we continued to refresh and consolidate our portfolio of branded entertainment
venues. Balcony Bar and Fashion Bar were retired following successful outings. In the former
Ministry of Sound premises, we launched the trio of distinctively different concepts, ZIRCA,
Yello Jello and Rebel in November 2008. The latest venue to be added to our portfolio was
Mulligan’s Irish Bar and Borgata Trattoria Osteria in September 2009, which is also located
at our entertainment complex, The Cannery. Our new concept venues have been registering
encouraging performances, and our existing venues, Café del Mar, Lunar, Nectarie and YUE
also continue to do well in the challenging operating environment.
In the year ahead, we continue to look at opportunities in overseas markets to replicate
our successful concepts, and aim to bring our iconic brands to high growth potential
markets in the region.

LifeBrandz at The Cannery, Clarke Quay
The Cannery This clubber’s mecca is located at Clarke Quay, Singapore’s one-stop F&B
and nightlife entertainment hub. Launched in 2006, the 80,000 sq ft complex combines eight
distinctively different lifestyle and entertainment concepts that appeal to a wide variety of tastes
and preferences.
Borgata Trattoria Osteria Helmed by Italian Chef Andre, Borgata offers a true, traditional
Northern Italian style menu with an extensive Italian wine selection in a cheery classically Italian
setting. After you decide from a range of over 20 appetizers, be tantalized by up to 25 varieties
of pizza and up to 15 types of pasta dishes. The daily-updated menu of Italian desserts then
makes the perfect ending to the meal. This serving of great food at great value is sure to ignite
diners’ love affair with Italian food.
10

Lunar Asian Fusion Bar Housed in an approximately 15,000 sq
ft venue, Lunar heralds a new era for the entertainment industry by
redefining “live” performances with a distinct ensemble that marries
old world Asian instruments with the scores of modern orchestration.
The unique genre of music creates a perfect ambience for those
who desire a respite from conventional concepts of music and
entertainment, making it the entertainment sanctuary for the
discerning.

LifeBrandz at Sentosa

Mulligan’s Irish Bar Music, conversation and good fun - Mulligan’s
is all about the authentic Irish pub experience. Its inviting, warm and
rustic interior feels just like coming home as antique Guinness, Irish
liquor posters, artwork and photos decorate the walls, completing
the quaint Irish charm. As they enjoy traditional Irish fare, sports
enthusiasts can also cheer their teams on as exciting games
are screened on the plasma television and projection screens
throughout the bar. On Saturdays, bar goers can imbibe in live
music performances with resident Irish musicians.
Nectarie Nectarie is dubbed as “the place for clubbers who eat
cake”. Situated eloquently in the midst of the action, this eyecatching pink patisseriedeli is part of the uber-glitzy bars, clubs and
restaurants situated at The Cannery. A delightful assortment from
cakes and pastries, to sandwiches and coffee may be found here at
all hours of the day.
Rebel Attitude meets unconventional chic in this urban hip-hop
boutique club. This playground for grown-ups is fitted out in
life-sized toy collectibles and walls of street art customized by
renowned Melbourne-based Meggs. Award-winning resident DJs
and guest MCs keep the dancefloor pumping every night at Rebel.
Yello Jello Take a trip down memory lane as Yello Jello celebrates
the chart-topping hits and retro funk disco mixes through the
night. In quaint new-retro surroundings, our resident band
entertains from Monday to Saturday with music from the golden
years of rock and roll.
Yue Enter yue - a world of opulence and magnificence that is
certain to take your breath away from your very first step. Expect
plush music suites adorned with stylish wall murals and zebra-like
prints for tables, extraordinary architecture reminiscent of the worldrenowned Bird’s Nest Olympics Stadium in Beijing and an intimate
live lounge that would seduce you into displaying your unfounded
singing talents.
ZIRCA Zirca treats partygoers to a sensory journey every night.
Combining live entertainment and dance floor experience, Zirca
takes you to a land of unadulterated audio visual bliss, complete
with head banging music ranging from electro to house, progressive
and trance accompanied by stunning visuals.

Café del Mar The original Café del Mar
in Ibiza was created in 1980 out of an
inspiration to showcase the mediterranean
sea on San Antonio beach. Singapore
can now experience the ultimate beach
party life this unique venue has to offer!
Café del Mar gives sunsets on Sentosa
a new meaning. With its music and Ibiza
pedigree, Café del Mar Singapore reinvents
the beach party culture and is set to
become the iconic spot in beach life and
entertainment in this city.
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SPORTS BAR WITH AN
IRISH CHARM
An authentic Irish pub experience complete
with stout, ale or whiskey at Mulligan’s Irish
Bar. Listen to Irish musicians, watch your
fave sports team on the plasma screen or
simply enjoy Irish steak and pie. Satisfy
your Irish culture fix and check out www.
mulligans.sg.

relive the
golden years
of rock n roll
We know you miss disco and retro,
so we take you back in time as we
celebrate revivals of pop hits and retro
funk disco mixes with all-night-long
moves and grooves.

www.yellojello.sg
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1. Lee Shieh-Peen Clement
2. Lim Miang Bernard
3. Irwin Lim Kee Way
4. Thomas Carlton Thompson, III
5. Kenneth Goh Tzu Seoh
6. Wong Kok Hoe
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Lee Shieh-Peen Clement

Thomas Carlton Thompson III

Mr. Clement Lee was appointed as our Executive Director on
19 January 2005 (last re-appointed on 18 November 2005). As
Executive Chairman, Mr Lee is responsible for the development
of business, formulating and implementing the business
strategies of the Group. In 2005, Mr. Lee spearheaded the
Group’s change in business direction, focusing on building
branded entertainment venues. Prior to his current designation,
Mr. Lee was Chief Executive Officer of the Group responsible for
the overall managment of the Group, setting strategic direction
and plans for the Group’s future growth and expansion. Before
joining LifeBrandz, Mr. Lee accumulated over 14 years’ of multibrand, multi-industry experience from design and advertising,
to media and marketing. He held various senior positions in
both the communications and consumer sectors regionally.

Mr. Thomas Carlton Thompson III was appointed as our
Independent Director on 12 March 2009. He is a member of
the Group’s Audit Committee, and chairman of the Group’s
Remuneration Committee and the Nominating Committee. Mr.
Thompson is currently a director of ACH Investments Pte Ltd,
an investment advisory firm. Prior to that, Mr. Thompson held
various senior positions in leading foreign banks including a
Partner in SBC-Brinson (now UBS Asset Management), CEO
Asia-Pacific of HSBC Asset Management, Managing Director
of Wardley Investment Services (Australia) Limited and Chief
Economist of Wardley Investment Services (Hong Kong). Mr.
Thompson is also a past Chairman of the Hong Kong Investment
Funds Association.

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR/CHAIRMAN

Lim Miang Bernard

Executive DIRECTOR

INDEPENDENT Director

Kenneth Goh Tzu Seoh

NON-Executive Director

Mr. Bernard Lim was appointed as our Executive Director on 1
April 2009 and is currently the Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”)
of the Group. As CEO, Mr Bernard Lim is responsible for the
overall management of the Group, setting strategic direction
and plans for the Group’s future growth and expansion. Before
joining LifeBrandz, Mr. Lim was in the media industry for 15
years. He was Vice President for MediaCorp Radio Singapore,
managing the radio stations’ programming and businesses in
the last 4 years.

Mr. Kenneth Goh was appointed as our Non-Executive Director
on 12 May 2009 after stepping down as Chief Operating
Officer of the Group. Previously, as Chief Operating Officer
and co-founder, Mr. Goh assists the CEO in formulating longterm strategy and direction for the Group. Prior to founding
LifeBrandz, Mr. Goh accumulated over 11 years’ experience in
the banking and finance industry, in senior positions including
Head of Privilege Banking at Bangkok Bank (Singapore
branch), and managerial roles in Citibank, N.A., Merrill Lynch
International Bank (Singapore), Societe Generale and Schroder
International Merchant Bankers Ltd.

Irwin Lim Kee Way

Mr Wong Kok Hoe

Mr. Irwin Lim was appointed as an Independent Director of the
Group on 21 April 2004 (last re-appointed on 18 November 2005).
He is Chairman of the Group’s Audit Committee and a member
of the Group’s Nominating and Remuneration Committees. Mr.
Lim is currently the Group Chief Financial Officer of United Test
and Assembly Centre Ltd (UTAC). Prior to that, Mr. Lim has
vast experience in the field of venture capital and private equity
activities in Asia and was previously responsible for AsiaVest
Partners, TCW/YFY (Taiwan) Ltd’s investments, primarily in the
Southeast Asian region. Mr. Lim, who started his career with
the Economic Development Board of Singapore, has also been
involved in investment consulting services.

Mr. Wong was appointed as our Non-Executive Director on 28
August 2009. He is a member of the Group’s Audit Committee
and Remuneration Committee.

Independent Director

Non-Executive Director

Mr. Wong is a director of the Centurion Group. The Group
has interests in fund management, private equity investments,
property development and investments. Prior to this, he was
a partner in a local advocates and solicitors firm. He has more
than 18 years of experience in legal practice and his main areas
of practice were corporate law, corporate finance, mergers
and acquisitions and venture capital. He is also a director of
the following public listed companies: K Plas Holdings Limited,
CFM Holdings Limited and Hartawan Holdings Limited.
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helm

Key Management

3
1
2

1. Lee Shieh-Peen Clement
2. Lim Miang Bernard
3. Jonathan Lim Chen Wei

Lee Shieh-Peen Clement

Jonathan Lim Chen Wei

EXECUTIVE CHAIRMAN

Group Financial Controller

As Executive Chairman, Mr. Lee is responsible for the
development of business, formulating and implementing the
business strategies of the Group. In 2005, Mr. Lee spearheaded
the Group’s change in business direction, focusing on
building branded entertainment venues. Prior to his current
designation, Mr. Lee was Chief Executive Officer of the Group
responsible for the overall management of the Group, setting
strategic direction and plans for the Group’s future growth and
expansion. Mr. Lee accumulated over 14 years’ of multi-brand,
multi-industry experience from design and advertising, to
media and marketing. He held various senior positions in both
the communications and consumer sectors regionally.

As Group Financial Controller, Mr. Jonathan Lim oversees
financial, accounting, business development and operations
and corporate secretarial matters of the Group. He also assists
the CEO in formulating long-term strategy and direction for
the Group and is instrumental in the initial set up of various
new ventures.

Lim Miang Bernard

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
As CEO, Mr. Bernard Lim is responsible for the overall
management of the Group, setting strategic direction and
plans for the Group’s future growth and expansion. Prior to his
current designation, Mr. Lim was Executive Vice President of the
Group and was responsible for managing Marketing and Public
Relations for the Group, while working on overseas expansion
projects. Before joining LifeBrandz, Mr. Lim was in the media
industry for 15 years. He was Vice President for MediaCorp
Radio Singapore, managing the radio stations’ programming
and businesses in the last 4 years.
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Before joining LifeBrandz, Jonathan held various positions
such as Group Financial Controller of Union Steel and Finance
Manager at Digiland International. Jonathan is a certified public
accountant with the Institute of Certified Public Accountants of
Singapore, and is a certified internal auditor of the Institute of
Internal Auditors.

SWEET INDULGENCE Right in the middle of the action.
Take a break from the night of moves and grooves and grab some sweets
at Nectarie, just a few steps from the glitzy clubs at The Cannery.
www.nectarie.sg

rebel without
a cause?
We’ ve got the
place for you!

REBEL is a cool urban hip-hop boutique club that
spells attitude and unconventional chic. Street art
is our passion, and we also have a thing for lifesized toy collectibles. If you’re into heart-thumping, mind-blowing clubbing experience with a
touch of bling-bling, head down to The Cannery
and brace yourself for an undeniably funky night.

www.rebel.sg

15% off

15%

with every minimum
$50 spent

off

With every minimum
$50 spent
Block C, The Cannery, Clarke Quay

Block C, The Cannery, Clarke Quay

FREE
ENTRy

10% off

Please present this coupon
upon entry

ON ALL DESSERTS

Block C, The Cannery, Clarke Quay

Block C, The Cannery, Clarke Quay

free entry
Please present
this coupon
upon entry
Block C, The Cannery,
Clarke Quay

Free Entry

Please present this coupon upon entry
Block C, The Cannery, Clarke Quay

Siloso Beach, Sentosa

15% off

10% off
With every minimum $50 spent

With every minimum $50 spent
Block C, The Cannery, Clarke Quay
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CORPORATE GOVRENANCE STATEMENT

The Board of Directors of LifeBrandz Limited (the “Company”) is committed to ensure that the highest standards of
corporate governance and transparency are practised throughout the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), as a
fundamental part of discharging its responsibilities to protect and enhance shareholder value and the financial information
of the Group. In view of this, the Board fully supports the principles behind the Code of Corporate Governance (the
“Code”), which forms part of the Continuing Obligations of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGXST”)’s Listing Manual, by adopting and adapting the Code throughout the Group.
The SGX-ST’s Listing Manual requires an issuer to describe its corporate governance practices with specific reference
to the Code in its annual report. It must also disclose any deviation from any aspect of the Code together with an
appropriate explanation for such deviation in the annual report.
This statement outlines the policies adopted during the financial year ended 31 July 2009 and practised by the Group,
with specific reference given to the relevant provisions of the Code.

THE CODE
The Code is divided into four main sections:
1.

Board Matters

2.

Remuneration Matters

3.

Accountability and Audit

4.

Communications with Shareholders

1.

BOARD MATTERS
Principle 1:
The Board’s Conduct of its Affairs
Every company should be led and controlled by an effective Board to enable the Company, its shareholders and
other stakeholders to achieve their respective objectives.
The principal functions of the Board are:
1.

reviewing and approving corporate strategies, annual budgets and financial plans and monitoring the
organisational performance towards them;

2.

reviewing the adequacy and integrity of the Company’s internal controls, risk management systems, and the
financial information reporting systems;

3.

ensuring the Group’s compliance to laws, regulations, policies, directives, guidelines and internal code of
conduct;

4.

approving nominations to the Board of directors by the Nominating Committee (“NC”) and endorsing the
appointments of the management team and external auditors;

5.

reviewing and approving the remuneration packages for the Board and key executives; and

6.

ensuring accurate, adequate and timely reporting to, and communication with shareholders.

Matters which are specifically reserved to the full Board for decision include those involving corporate plans and
budgets, material acquisitions and disposal of assets, corporate and financial restructuring, share issuances,
dividends, other returns to shareholders and interested person transactions.

21

CORPORATE GOVRENANCE STATEMENT

The Board has delegated specific responsibilities to 3 sub-committees (Audit, Nominating, and Remuneration),
the details of which are set out below. These committees function within clearly defined terms of reference and
operating procedures, which are reviewed on a regular basis. These committees have the authority to examine
particular issues and report back to the Board with a fair recommendation. The ultimate responsibility for the final
decision on all matters, however, lies with the entire Board. The effectiveness of each committee is also constantly
reviewed by the Board.
The Board meets at least 4 times a year, with additional meetings convened as necessary. Board meetings are held
in Singapore and the directors attend the meetings regularly. The matrix on the frequency of the meetings and the
attendance of directors at these meetings is set out on page 31.
Principle 2:
Board’s Composition and Balance
There should be a strong and independent element on the Board, which is able to exercise objective judgment on
corporate affairs independently, in particular, from Management. No individual or small group of individuals should
be allowed to dominate the Board’s decision making.
The Board of Directors comprises six Directors, two of whom are independent directors. All Board members bring
about an independent judgment and diversified knowledge and experiences to bear on the issues of strategy,
performance, resources and standards of conduct. A brief description on the background of each Director is
presented on “Board of Directors” section on page 14.
The criteria for independence is determined based on the definition as provided in the Code. The Board considers
an “independent” Director as one who has no relationship with the Company, its related companies or its officers
that could interfere, or be reasonably perceived to interfere, with the exercise of the Directors’ independent
business judgement with a view to the best interests of the Group. As independent Directors make up one third of
the Board, no individual or group is able to dominate the Board’s decision-making process.
The independence of each Director is reviewed annually by the NC.
The Board examines its size to satisfy that it is an appropriate size for effective decision making, taking into
account the nature and scope of the Company's operations. The NC is of the view that the current board size of
six Directors is appropriate.
Principle 3:
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
There should be a clear division of responsibilities at the top of the company - the working of the Board and the
executive responsibility of the company’s business - which will ensure a balance of power and authority, such that
no one individual represents a considerable concentration of power.
With effect from 1 April 2009, the roles of the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer are undertaken by separate
persons so as to create a clear division of responsibilities.
Mr Lee Shieh-Peen Clement has been re-designated as Executive Chairman of the Company to develop the
business, formulate and implement the business strategies of the Group.
Mr Lim Miang Bernard has been appointed as Chief Executive Officer of the Company and will be responsible for
the day-to-day management and operations of the Group. There is no concentration of power as the Group is run
objectively on a transparent basis as the Board feels that there is adequate representation of independent and NonExecutive Directors (more than 1/3) on the Board.
Both the Executive Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer exercise control over quality, quantity and timeliness
of the flow of information between management and the Board.
As a general rule, board papers are sent to the Directors in advance in order for the Directors to be adequately
prepared for the meeting. Management staff who have prepared the papers are invited to present the papers at
the meeting.
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Principle 4:
Board Membership
There should be a formal and transparent process for the appointment of new Directors to the Board. As a principle
of good corporate governance, all Directors should be required to submit themselves for re-nomination and reelection at regular intervals.
Nominating Committee
The Nominating Committee (“NC”) comprises three members, a majority of whom, including the Chairman, are
independent. The members of the NC are:
Mr.Lee Soon Kie

Chairman and Independent Director (resigned on 12 March 2009)

Mr.Thomas Carlton Thompson, III

Chairman and Independent Director (appointed on 12 March 2009)

Mr.Lim Kee Way Irwin

Independent Director

Mr. Lee Shieh-Peen Clement

Executive Director (appointed on 12 March 2009)

The NC has adopted the written terms of reference which describes the responsibilities of NC and the proceedings
at NC meetings.
The NC’s principal responsibilities are as follows:
(a)

recommend to the Board on all board appointments and re-appointments;

(b)

determine independence of the Directors annually;

(c)

determine whether or not a Director is able to and has been adequately carrying out his duties as Director of
the Company;

(d)

evaluate the performance and effectiveness of the Board as a whole; and

(e)

oversee the management development and succession planning of the Group.

In determining the independence of the Directors, the NC has developed a Return on Independence which is
required to be completed by all Directors on an annual basis and submitted to NC for its review.
Election and re-election
New Directors are appointed by way of a board resolution, upon their nomination from NC. In accordance with the
Company’s Articles of Association, these new Directors who are appointed by the Board are subject to election
by shareholders at the first opportunity after their appointment. The Articles of Association of the Company also
require that one-third of the Board retire from office at each Annual General Meeting (“AGM”). Accordingly, the
Directors submit themselves for re-nomination and re-election at regular intervals of at least once every 3 years.
Policy on external appointments
The Group recognises that its Executive Directors may be invited to become Non-Executive Directors of other
companies and that the exposure to such non-executive duties can broaden the experience and knowledge of its
Executive Directors which will benefit the Group. Executive Directors are therefore allowed to accept non-executive
appointments as long as these are with non-competing companies, are not likely to lead to conflict of interest and
their commitment to the Group is not compromised.
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Principle 5:
Board Performance
There should be a formal assessment of the effectiveness of the Board as a whole.
The NC assesses the effectiveness of the Board as a whole and the Committees of the Board on an annual basis.
In this aspect, both quantitative and qualitative criteria were adopted. The quantitative performance criteria include,
growth in turnover and profitability, return on assets and profitability on capital employed. The qualitative measures
include the effectiveness of the Board in its monitoring role and the attainment of the strategic and long-term
objectives set by the Board. For this purpose, the NC has developed a checklist to assist in its assessment of the
Board’s effectiveness at least once every year.
Principle 6:
Access to Information
In order to fulfill their responsibilities, Board members should be provided with complete, adequate and timely
information prior to board meetings and on an on-going basis.
The Board has separate and independent access to senior management and the Company Secretary at all times.
Requests for information from the Board are dealt with promptly by management. The Board is informed of all
material events and transactions as and when they occur. The management provides the Board with quarterly
reports of the Group’s performance. The management also consults with Board members regularly whenever
necessary and appropriate. The Board is issued with board papers timely and prior to Board meetings. Analysts’
reports on the Company are also forwarded to the Directors on an on-going basis as and when received.
The Company Secretary attends all board meetings. The Company Secretary administers, attends and prepares
minutes of Board meetings, and assists the Chairman in ensuring that Board procedures are followed and reviewed
so that the Board functions effectively and the Company’s Memorandum and Articles of Association and the
relevant rules and regulations applicable to the Company are complied with.
The Board in fulfilling its responsibilities, can as a group or individually, when deemed fit, direct the Company to
appoint professional adviser to render professional advice.

2.

REMUNERATION MATTERS
The Company adopted the objective as recommended by the Code to determine the remuneration for a Director
so as ensure that the Company attracts and retains the Directors needed to run the Group successfully. The
component parts of remuneration are structured so as to link rewards to corporate and individual performance, in
the case of Executive Directors. In the case of Non-Executive Directors, the level of remuneration reflects the level
of responsibilities undertaken by the particular Non-Executive Director concerned.
Principle 7:
Procedures for Developing Remuneration Policies
There should be a formal and transparent procedure for fixing the remuneration packages of individual Directors.
No Director should be involved in deciding his own remuneration.
Remuneration Procedure
The Code endorses, as good practice, a formal framework for fixing the remuneration packages of individuals, with
a Remuneration Committee making recommendations to the Board.
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Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee (“RC”) comprises three members, all non-executive with a majority of whom,
including the Chairman, are independent. The members of the RC are:
Mr.Lee Soon Kie

Chairman and Independent Director (resigned on 12 March 2009)

Mr.Thomas Carlton Thompson, III

Chairman and Independent Director (appointed on 12 March 2009)

Mr.Lim Kee Way Irwin

Independent Director

Mr. Michael Wong C.K.

Non-Executive Director (resigned on 12 August 2009)

Mr. Wong Kok Hoe

Non-Executive Director (appointed on 28 August 2009)

Mr. Michael Wong C.K. tendered his resignation on 12 August 2009 and his resignation was accepted by the Board
on 12 August 2009. Mr. Wong Kok Hoe was subsequently appointed as a member of the RC on 28 August 2009.
Mr. Wong Kok Hoe the Group Chief Operating Officer of Centurion Global Ltd, has extensive working experience in
the corporate and capital markets.
The RC has adopted the written terms of reference which describes the responsibilities of RC and the proceedings
at RC meetings.
The RC’s principal responsibilities are as follows:
(a)

approve the structure of the compensation programme for Directors and senior management to ensure
that the programme is competitive and sufficient to attract, retain and motivate senior management of the
required quality to run the Company successfully;

(b)

to review and recommend the remuneration packages of the Executive Directors, CEO and key executives
of the Company annually;

(c)

oversee and review the administration of the LifeBrandz Employees Share Option (“ESOS”) as defined in the
option scheme. Any matter pertaining to the ESOS and any dispute and uncertainty as to the interpretation
of the ESOS, any rule, regulation or procedure thereunder or any rights under the ESOS shall be determined
by the RC; and

(d)

review the appropriateness of compensation for Non-Executive Directors including but not limited to
Directors’ fees, allowances and share options.

Principle 8:
Level and Mix of Remuneration
The level of remuneration should be appropriate to attract, retain and motivate the Directors needed to run the
company successfully but companies should avoid paying more for this purpose. A proportion of the remuneration,
especially that of executive directors, should be linked to performance.
Principle 9:
Disclosure on Remuneration
Each company should provide clear disclosure of its remuneration policy, level and mix of remuneration, and the
procedure for setting remuneration, in the Company’s annual report.
The RC recommends to the Board the framework of executive remuneration and the remuneration package for
each Executive Director. In its deliberations, the RC will take into consideration industry practices and norms
in compensation in addition to the Company’s relative performance in the industry and the performance of the
individual Directors. The remuneration packages recommended by the RC are ultimately approved by the Board.
No Director is involved in deciding his own remuneration.
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Remuneration package
The Company adopts a remuneration policy for staff comprising a fixed and variable component. The fixed
component is in the form of a base salary. The variable component is in the form of a variable bonus which is linked
to the Group’s performance as well as the individual’s performance which is assessed based on their respective
key performance indicators allocated to them. With effect from the new financial year, the variable component will
also comprise the grant of the options to staff under ESOS. This seeks to align the interests of staff with that of the
shareholders. Staff appraisals are conducted once every year.
The remuneration package of Directors and key management personnel includes the following:
(a)

Basic salary
The basic salary (inclusive of statutory employer’s contributions to Central Provident Fund) for each
Executive Director is recommended by the RC, taking into account the performance of the individual, the
inflationary rate and the information from independent sources on the rates of salary for similar positions in a
selected group of comparable organizations

(b)

Fees
Directors’ fees are set in accordance with a remuneration framework comprising basic fees and takes into
account factors such as effort and time spent, and responsibilities of these Directors. Executive Directors
do not receive directors’ fees. The payment of fees to Non-Executive Directors is subject to approval at the
annual general meeting of the Company.

(c)

Bonus scheme
The Group operates a bonus scheme for all employees. The criteria for the scheme is the level of profit
achieved against targets together with an assessment of corporate and individual’s performance.

(d)

Share options
The Group operates a share option scheme for all employees, including Executive Directors. The Company
has not granted any options to the employees under the ESOS. With effect from the new financial year,
ESOS will form part of the variable component of the employees’ remuneration.

Remuneration package
Directors’ Remuneration
A breakdown showing the level and mix of each individual Director’s remuneration payable for FY2009 is as follows:
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2009

2008

$500,000 and above
$260,000 to below $500,000
Below $260,000

–
–
7

–
–
6

Total

7

6
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Name
Lee Shieh-Peen Clement
Lim Miang Bernard
Kenneth Goh Tzu Seoh
Thomas Carlton Thompson, III
Lee Soon Kie
Lim Kee Way Irwin
Michael Wong C. K.

Remuneration Band
S$

Salary
%

Bonus
%

*Directors’ Fees
%

Total
%

<$260,000
<$260,000
<$260,000
<$260,000
<$260,000
<$260,000
<$260,000

100
100
98
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
2**
100
100
100
100

100
100
100
100
100
100
100

*

The remuneration in the form of Directors’ Fee is subject to the approval of the shareholders at the forthcoming Annual
General meeting.

**

Mr. Kenneth Goh Tzu Seoh has resigned as Chief Operating Officer on 12 May 2009 and has been appointed as a
Non-Executive Director on the same day, and the proposed directors’ fee is relating to his services as a Non-Executive
Director.

Remuneration of Key Employees
The table below shows the range of gross remuneration received by the Group’s top five executive (excluding
Executive Directors) in the Company. The Company does not have any employee who is an immediate family
member of a Director or CEO whose remuneration in FY2009 exceeded $150,000.
No. of Executives in remuneration bands
$260,000 to below $500,000
Below $260,000

3.

2009

2008

–
5

–
5

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
Principle 10:
Accountability
The Board is accountable to the shareholders while the Management is accountable to the Board.
In presenting the annual financial statements, and quarterly or yearly announcement to shareholders, the directors
aim to present a balanced and understandable assessment of the Group’s position and prospects.
In preparing the financial statements, the directors have:
selected suitable accounting policies and applied them consistently;
made judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
ensured that all applicable accounting standards have been followed; and
prepared financial statements on a going concern basis as the Directors have a reasonable expectation,
having made enquiries, that the Group and the Company have adequate resources to continue in operational
existence for the foreseeable future.
Principle 11:
Audit Committee
The Board should establish an Audit Committee with written terms of reference which clearly set out its authority
and duties.
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The Audit Committee (“AC”) comprises three members, two of whom are independent and one non-executive. At
the date of this report, the Audit Committee comprises the following members:
Mr. Lim Kee Way Irwin

Chairman and Independent Director

Mr. Lee Soon Kie

Independent Director (resigned on 12 March 2009)

Mr.Thomas Carlton Thompson, III

Independent Director

Mr. Michael Wong C.K.

Non-Executive Director (resigned on 12 August 2009)

Mr. Wong Kok Hoe

Non-Executive Director (appointed on 28 August 2009)

Mr. Michael Wong C.K. was appointed as a member of the AC on 12 March 2009. Mr. Michael Wong tendered his
resignation on 12 August 2009 and his resignation was accepted by the Board on 12 August 2009. Mr. Wong Kok
Hoe was subsequently appointed as a member of the AC on 28 August 2009.
Mr. Wong Kok Hoe the Group Chief Operating Officer of Centurion Global Ltd, and has extensive working
experience in corporate and capital markets.
The AC is chaired by Mr. Lim Kee Way Irwin, who is the Group Chief Financial Officer of United Test and Assembly
Centre Ltd. Mr. Lim holds a Masters of Science in management from Imperial College, University of London, and
a Bachelor of Science in Industrial Engineering from Columbia University. The other members of the AC have many
years of experience in business management, corporate finance, fund management and investment banking.
The NC is of the view that the members of the AC have the necessary expertise and experience to discharge its
functions
The AC has adopted the written terms of reference which describes the responsibilities of AC and the proceedings
at AC meetings.
The AC carried out its functions in accordance with Section 201B(5) of the Singapore Companies Act, including the
following:
(a)

review with the external auditors of the Company, their audit plan, evaluation of the internal accounting
controls, audit reports and any matters which the external auditors wish to discuss. (in the absence of
management)

(b)

ensures co-operation is given by the Company’s management to the external auditors;

(c)

review the announcement of year-end results to SGX-ST;

(d)

review the annual financial statements and the Auditors’ report on the Company’s annual financial
statements before they are presented to the Board, focusing on:
going concern assumption;
compliance with accounting standards and regulatory requirements;
any changes in accounting policies and practices;
significant issues arising from the audit; and
major judgmental areas.

(e)
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review with the management and the external auditors the adequacy and effectiveness of the company’s
internal controls, business and service systems and practices;
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(f)

monitors and reviews related and interested party transactions and conflict of interest situation that may
arise within the Group. The Committee is also required to ensure that the directors report such transactions
annually to shareholders in the annual report;

(g)

consider the appointment and re-appointment of the external auditors;

(h)

review significant risks or exposures that exist and assess the steps taken by management to minimise such
risks to the Company; and

(i)

any other functions which may be agreed by the AC and the Board.

The AC has the power to conduct or authorize investigations into any matters within the AC’s scope of
responsibility. The AC is authorized to obtain independent professional advice if it deems necessary in the
discharge of its responsibilities. Such expenses are to be borne by the Company.
The Company has put in place a whistle-blowing policy to provide a channel to employees to report in good faith
and in confidence, without fear of reprisals, concerns about possible improprieties in financial reporting or other
matters. The objective for such an arrangement is to ensure independent investigation of such matters and for
appropriate follow-up action.
The AC has full access to and co-operation of the Company’s management and has full discretion to invite any
Director or executive officer to attend the meetings, and has been given reasonable resources to enable it to
discharge its functions.
The AC, having reviewed the range and value of non-audit services performed by the external auditors, Messrs
Ernst & Young LLP, and being satisfied that the nature and extent of such services will not prejudice the
independence and objectivity of the external auditors, are pleased to confirm their re-nomination.
Principle 12:
Internal Controls
The Board should ensure that the Management maintains a sound system of internal controls to safeguard the
shareholders’ investments and the company’s assets.
It is the opinion of the Board that, in the absence of evidence to the contrary, the system of internal controls
maintained by the Company’s management and that was in place throughout the financial year and up to the date
of this report provides reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material financial misstatements or losses,
and includes the safeguarding of assets, the maintenance of proper accounting records, the reliability of financial
information, compliance with appropriate legislation, regulations and best practices, and the identification and
containment of financial, operational and compliance risks. The Board notes that all internal control systems contain
inherent limitations and no system of internal controls could provide absolute assurance against the occurrence of
material errors, poor judgement in decision-making, human error losses, fraud or other irregularities.
Principle 13:
Internal Audit
The company should establish an internal audit function that is independent of the activities it audits.
The Company outsources its internal audit function to TransFingo Pte Ltd for the financial year ended 31 July
2009, an external professional firm, who reports directly to the Chairman of AC and administratively to the CEO.
The objective of the internal audit function is to determine whether the Group’s risk management, control and
governance processes, as designed by the Company, is adequate and functioning in the required manner. The
internal auditors have identified the Group’s main business processes and developed an audit plan that covers the
main business process.
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4.

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLERS
Principle 14:
Companies should engage in regular, effective and fair communication with shareholders.
The Company does not practise selective disclosure. In line with continuous obligations of the Company pursuant
to the SGX-ST’s Listing Rules, the Board’s policy is that all shareholders should be equally informed of all major
developments impacting the Group.
Information is disseminated to shareholders on a timely basis through:
SGXNET Systems and news release
Annual Reports prepared and issued to all shareholders
The Company’s website at www.lifebrandz.com and investor relations site, Shareinvestor, at which
shareholders can access information on the Group
Results and annual reports are announced or issued within the mandatory period. The Group has an investor
relation team which communicates with its investors on a regular basis and attends to their queries. All
shareholders of the Company will receive a copy of the annual report and the notice of the Annual General Meeting.
The notice is also advertised in newspaper and made available at the SGX-ST’s and the Company’s websites.
Principle 15:
Companies should encourage greater shareholder participation at Annual General Meetings and allow shareholders
the opportunity to communicate their views on various matters affecting the company.
At the Company’s annual general meetings, shareholders are given the opportunity to voice their views and ask
Directors or management questions regarding the Company. The Chairman of the AC, RC and NC will normally be
present at all annual general meetings to answer any questions relating to the work of these committees.
Dealing in Securities
In line with the Best Practices Guide issued by the SGX-ST, the Company has in place a policy prohibiting share
dealings by Directors and employees of the Company for the period of two weeks before the announcement of the
Company’s financial statements for each of the first three quarters of its financial year, or one month prior to the
announcement of the Company’s half yearly and yearly results, and ending on the date of the announcement of the
relevant results.
Material Contracts
There was no material contracts entered into by the Company or any of its subsidiaries involving the interest of the
CEO, any Director, or controlling shareholder for FY2009.
Interested Person Transactions (“IPTs”)
The Company has established procedures to ensure that all transactions with interested persons are reported in a
timely manner to the AC and those transactions are conducted on an arm’s length basis and are not prejudicial to
the interests of the shareholders.
There have been no IPTs equal to or exceeding S$100,000 in value for FY2009.

30

CORPORATE GOVRENANCE STATEMENT

Summary of Committee Meetings
The number of Board and Board Committee meetings held during the FY2009 and the attendance of each Director
where relevant is as follows:

No. of meetings held

Board

Audit
Committee

Nominating
Committee

Remuneration
Committee

7

4

1

1

No. of meetings attended by respective directors:
Lee Shieh-Peen Clement

7

N.A.

N.A.

N.A.

Lim Miang Bernard (appointed on 1 April 2009)

2

N.A.

N.A.

N.A.

Kenneth Goh Tzu Seoh

7

N.A.

N.A.

N.A.

Thomas Carlton Thompson, III

7

4

1

1

Lee Soon Kie (resigned on 12 March 2009)

5

3

1

1

Lim Kee Way Irwin

7

4

1

1

Michael Wong C. K. (resigned on 12 August
2009)
Wong Kok Hoe (appointed on 28 August 2009)

5

1

N.A.

N.A.

N.A.

N.A.

N.A.

N.A.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
For the financial year ended 31 July 2009

The directors present their report to the members together with the audited consolidated financial statements of LifeBrandz
Ltd (the “Company”) and its subsidiary companies (collectively, the “Group”) and the balance sheet and statements of
changes in equity of the Company for the financial year ended 31 July 2009.

Directors
The directors of the Company in office at the date of this report are:
Lee Shieh-Peen Clement
Lim Miang Bernard
Thomas Carlton Thompson, III
Lim Kee Way Irwin
Kenneth Goh Tzu Seoh
Wong Kok Hoe

(Executive Director and Chairman)
(Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director)
(Independent Non-Executive Director)
(Independent Non-Executive Director)
(Non-Executive Director)
(Non-Executive Director)

Arrangements to enable directors to acquire shares and debentures
Neither at the end of nor at any time during the financial year was the Company a party to any arrangement whose objects
are, or one of whose object is, to enable the directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of
shares or debentures of the Company or any other body corporate.

Directors’ interests in shares and debentures
The following directors, who held office at the end of the financial year, had, according to the register of directors’
shareholdings required to be kept under Section 164 of the Singapore Companies Act, Cap. 50, an interest in shares of
the Company, as stated below:

Name of directors

Holdings registered in name
of director or nominee
At the
At the
beginning of
end of
financial year
financial
or date of
year
21.08.2009
appointment

Holdings in which a director
is deemed to have an interest
At the
At the
beginning of
end of
financial year
financial
or date of
year
21.08.2009
appointment

The Company Ordinary shares
Lee Shieh-Peen Clement
Lim Miang Bernard
Kenneth Goh Tzu Seoh
Thomas Carlton Thompson, III
Lee Soon Kie
Michael Wong C.K.

38,440,000

100,000

57,760,000

−

–

−

763,000

763,000

1,907,500

–

–

–

30,688,000

–

23,532,000

−

–

−

−

–

−

14,020,800

12,646,800

25,065,000

200,000

–

200,000

−

–

−

39,733,800

14,442,800

–

−

–

−

Except as disclosed in this report, no other director who held office at the end of the financial year had interests in shares
or debentures of the Company, or of related corporations, either at the beginning of the financial year or at the end of the
financial year.
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Directors’ contractual benefits
Except as disclosed in the financial statements, since the end of the previous financial year, no director of the Company
has received or become entitled to receive a benefit by reason of a contract made by the Company or a related
corporation with the director or with a firm of which the director is a member, or with a company in which the director has
a substantial financial interest.

Share options
There were no options granted during the financial year to subscribe for unissued shares of the Company or its subsidiary.
No shares have been issued during the financial year by virtue of the exercise of options to take up unissued shares of the
Company or its subsidiary.
There were no unissued shares of the Company or its subsidiary under option at the end of the financial year.

Audit Committee
The Audit Committee performed the functions specified in the Companies Act. The functions performed are detailed in
the Corporate Governance Statement.

Auditors
Ernst & Young LLP have expressed their willingness to accept re-appointment as auditors.

On behalf of the board of directors,

Lee Shieh-Peen Clement
Director

Lim Miang Bernard
Director

Singapore
21 October 2009
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STATEMENT BY DIRECTORS
For the financial year ended 31 July 2009

We, Lee Shieh-Peen Clement and Lim Miang Bernard, being two of the directors of LifeBrandz Ltd, do hereby state that,
in the opinion of the directors,
(i)

the accompanying balance sheets, consolidated income statement, statements of changes in equity, and
consolidated cash flow statement together with the notes thereto are drawn up so as to give a true and fair view
of the state of affairs of the Group and of the Company as at 31 July 2009, and of the results of the business,
changes in equity and cash flow of the Group and the changes in equity of the Company for the financial year
ended on that date, and

(ii)

at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its
debts as and when they fall due.

On behalf of the board of directors,

Lee Shieh-Peen Clement
Director

Lim Miang Bernard
Director

Singapore
21 October 2009
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
To the members of Lifebrands Ltd

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of LifeBrandz Ltd (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively the “Group”), which comprise the balance sheets of the Group and the Company as at 31 July 2009, the
statements of changes in equity of the Group and the Company and the income statement and cash flow statement of the
Group for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

Management’s responsibility for the financial statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with
the provisions of the Singapore Companies Act, Cap. 50 (the “Act”) and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards. This
responsibility includes devising and maintaining a system of internal accounting controls sufficient to provide a reasonable
assurance that assets are safeguarded against loss from unauthorised use or disposition; and transactions are properly
authorised and that they are recorded as necessary to permit the preparation of true and fair profit and loss account
and balance sheet and to maintain accountability of assets; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and
making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditors’ responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in
accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements
and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from material
misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion,
(i)

the consolidated financial statements of the Group and the balance sheet and statement of changes in equity of the
Company are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Act and Singapore Financial Reporting
Standards so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the Company as at 31 July
2009 and the results, changes in equity and cash flows of the Group and the changes in equity of the Company for
the year ended on that date; and

(ii)

the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Company and by those subsidiaries
incorporated in Singapore of which we are the auditors have been properly kept in accordance with the provisions
of the Act.

Ernst & Young LLP
Public Accountants and Certified Public Accountants
Singapore
21 October 2009
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
For the financial year ended 31 July 2009

Group

Revenue

Notes

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

4

30,399

38,048

29

167

Interest income from fixed deposits
Other operating income

5

2,070

4,641

32,498

42,856

(7,343)

(9,868)

Expenses
Inventories and consumables used
Amortisation and depreciation

6

(4,587)

(4,741)

Employee benefits

7

(10,320)

(14,715)

Advertising, media and entertainment

(4,600)

(5,341)

Rental on operating leases

(4,337)

(4,714)

(91)

(115)

(59)

(269)

Licence and permits

(456)

(1,334)

Legal and professional fees

(912)

(1,419)

Contract services

(577)

(1,240)

(10,095)

(6,759)

(237)

(106)

(11,116)

(7,765)

109

(5)

(11,007)

(7,770)

(11,007)

(7,390)

–

(380)

(11,007)

(7,770)

(1.50)

(1.01)

Transportation
Finance costs

Other operating expenses

8

9

Changes in inventories of finished goods
Loss before taxation
Income tax credit/(expense)

10

Loss for the financial year
Attributable to :
Equity holders of the Company
Minority interest

Loss per share attributable to the equity holders of the Company
(expressed in cents per share)
- Basic and diluted

12

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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BALANCE SHEETS
As at 31 July 2009

Group

Company
2009
2008
$’000
$’000

Notes

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

Property, plant and equipment

13

6,789

13,283

2

11

Other receivables

14

–

–

1,000

1,000

Investments in subsidiaries

15

–

–

1,000

3,200

Intangible assets

16

13

690

–

–

Deferred tax asset

11

–

70

–

–

6,802

14,043

2,002

4,211

Non-current assets

Current assets
Deposits

–

344

–

120

Trade and other receivables

14

545

1,183

4,045

15,061

Inventories

17

449

686

–

–

Prepayments

18

981

837

462

600

Cash and cash equivalents

19

2,583

12,184

1,357

9,855

4,558

15,234

5,864

25,636

6,767

6,384

5,155

2,462

Deferred revenue

–

87

–

87

Provision for taxation

4

4

4

4

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables

Borrowings

20

21

Net current (liabilities)/assets

191

2,545

191

2,545

6,962

9,020

5,350

5,098

(2,404)

6,214

514

20,538

Non-current liabilities
Borrowings

21

–

4,667

–

4,667

Deferred tax liabilities

11

109

294

–

–

4,289

15,296

2,516

20,082

Equity attributable to equity holders of the
Company
Share capital
Accumulated losses
Total equity

22

42,021

42,021

42,021

42,021

(37,732)

(26,725)

(39,505)

(21,939)

4,289

15,296

2,516

20,082

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the financial year ended 31 July 2009

Group

Opening balance at 1 August 2008

Share
capital
(Note 22)
$’000

Accumulated
losses
$’000

Minority
interest
$’000

Total
$’000

42,021

(26,725)

–

15,296

Loss for the financial year

–

(11,007)

–

(11,007)

Total recognised income and expense for the year

–

(11,007)

–

(11,007)

Closing balance at 31 July 2009

42,021

(37,732)

–

4,289

Opening balance at 1 August 2007

42,021

(19,335)

380

23,066

Loss for the financial year

–

(7,390)

(380)

(7,770)

Total recognised income and expense for the year

–

(7,390)

(380)

(7,770)

42,021

(26,725)

–

15,296

Closing balance at 31 July 2008

Company

Opening balance at 1 August 2008
Loss for the financial year
Total recognised income and expense for the year

Share
capital
(Note 22)
$’000

(Accumulated
losses)/
retained
earnings
$’000

Total
$’000

42,021

(21,939)

20,082

–

(17,566)

(17,566)

–

(17,566)

(17,566)

Closing balance at 31 July 2009

42,021

(39,505)

2,516

Opening balance at 1 August 2007

42,021

(22,348)

19,673

Profit for the financial year

–

409

409

Total recognised income and expense for the year

–

409

409

42,021

(21,939)

20,082

Closing balance at 31 July 2008

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
For the financial year ended 31 July 2009

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

(11,116)

(7,765)

Cash flows from operating activities
Loss before taxation
Adjustments:
Depreciation and amortisation

4,587

4,741

Allowance for doubtful debts

142

341

Bad debts written off

270

250

Inventories written-down
Property, plant and equipment written off
Prepayment written off
Loss/(gain) on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Interest income
Interest expense

6

11

5,229

1,628

792

383

3

(2)

(29)

(167)

59

269

632

186

575

(125)

Inventories

231

94

Trade and other receivables

(471)

(1,089)

Prepayments

104

277

Trade and other payables

296

(1,408)

Cash from/(used in) operations

735

(2,251)

(5)

–

730

(2,251)

Impairment of intangible assets
Operating profit/(loss) before working capital changes
Changes in operating assets and liabilities

Income tax paid
Net cash from/(used in) operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment

(3,280)

(2,555)

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment

–

2

Purchases of franchises and licences

–

(244)

Interest received

29

167

(3,251)

(2,630)

Proceeds from borrowings

–

7,000

Repayment of borrowings

(7,021)

(5,237)

–

(13)

Net cash used in investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities

Placement in bank deposits pledged as security
Interest expense paid
Net cash (used in)/from financing activities

(59)

(269)

(7,080)

1,481

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents

(9,601)

(3,400)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of financial year

12,184

15,051

2,583

11,651

Cash and cash equivalents at end of financial year (Note 19)

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 July 2009

1.

Corporate information
LifeBrandz Ltd (the “Company”) is a limited liability company domiciled and incorporated in Singapore. The
Company is listed on the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited.
The registered office and principal place of business of the Company is located at 390 Havelock Road #05-05
King’s Centre, Singapore 169662.
The principal activity of the Company is that of investment holding. The principal activities of the Group are those
of the lifestyle and entertainment business.

2.

Summary of significant accounting policies

2.1

Basis of preparation
The consolidated financial statements of the Group and the balance sheet and statement of changes in equity of
the Company have been prepared in accordance with Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (“FRS”).
The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost convention, except as disclosed in the accounting
policies below.
The financial statements are presented in Singapore dollars ($ or SGD) and all values are rounded to the nearest
thousand ($’000) except when otherwise indicated.
Going concern assumption
The Group incurred net loss after tax during the financial year ended 31 July 2009 of $11,007,000 (2008 :
$7,770,000). As at that date, the Group’s current liabilities exceeded the current assets by $2,404,000 (2008 : net
current assets of $6,214,000).
The directors are of the view that the use of the going concern assumption is appropriate for the preparation of
these financial statements as the Group has raised funds via rights issue amounting to $5.1 million in August 2009.

2.2

Changes in accounting policies
The accounting policies have been consistently applied by the Group and the Company and are consistent with
those used in the previous financial year, except for the changes in accounting policies discussed below.
The Group and the Company adopted the following new and revised FRS and Interpretations to FRS (“INT FRS”)
that are mandatory for annual financial periods beginning on or after 1 August 2008.
INT FRS 111, FRS 102

FRS 102 - Group and Treasury Share Transactions

INT FRS 112

Service Concession Arrangements

INT FRS 113

Customer Loyalty Programmes

INT FRS 114

FRS 19 - The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding Requirements
and their Interaction

The adoption of the above FRS and INT FRS did not result in any significant changes to the Group’s and the
Company’s accounting policies.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 July 2009

2.

Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.3

Future changes in accounting policies
The Group and the Company have not adopted the following FRS and INT FRS that have been issued but not yet
effective:

Reference

Description

FRS 1

Amendment of FRS 1 (revised),
– Presentation of Financial Statements – Revised Presentation

Effective for
annual periods
beginning on or after

1 January 2009

– Presentation of Financial Statements – Amendments relating to
Puttable Financial Instruments and Obligations Arising on Liquidation

1 January 2009

FRS 23

Amendment to FRS 23, Borrowing Costs

1 January 2009

FRS 27

Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements – Amendments
relating to Cost of an Investment in a Subsidiary, Jointly Controlled
Equity or Associate

1 January 2009

FRS 32

Financial Instruments: Presentation – Amendments relating to Puttable
Financial Instruments and Obligations Arising on Liquidation

1 January 2009

FRS 39

Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement – Amendments
relating to eligible hedged items
Amendments to INT FRS 109 and FRS 39 – Embedded Derivatives

FRS 101

FRS 102

1 July 2009
30 June 2009

First - time Adoption of Financial Reporting Standard – Amendments
relating to Cost of an Investment in a Subsidiary, Jointly Controlled
Entity or Associate

1 January 2009

Share-based Payment: Amendments relating to Vesting Conditions and
Cancellations

1 January 2009

FRS 108

Operating Segments

1 January 2009

INT FRS 116

Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operations

1 October 2008

INT FRS 117

Distributions of Non-cash Assets to Owners

1 July 2009

The directors expect that the adoption of the above pronouncements will have no material impact on the financial
statements in the period of initial application, except for FRS 1 and FRS 108 as indicated below.
FRS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements – Revised Presentation
The revised FRS 1 – Presentation of Financial Statements requires the separation of owner and non-owner
changes in equity. The statement of changes in equity will include only details of transactions with owners, with
all non-owner changes in equity presented as a single line. In addition, the Standard introduces the statement
of comprehensive income: it presents all items of income and expense, either in one single statement, or in two
linked statements. The Group is still evaluating whether it will have one or two statements. The Group will apply the
revised FRS 1 from annual period beginning 1 August 2009.
FRS 108 Operating Segments
FRS 108 requires entities to disclose segment information based on the information reviewed by the entity’s chief
operating decision maker. The impact of this standard on the other segment disclosures is still to be determined.
As this is a disclosure standard, it will have no impact on the financial position or financial performance of the
Group when implemented in the year ending 31 July 2010.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 July 2009

2.

Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.4

Subsidiary companies and principles of consolidation
Subsidiary companies
A subsidiary is an entity over which the Group has the power to govern the financial and operating policies so as
to obtain benefits from its activities. The Group generally has such power when it directly or indirectly, holds more
than 50% of the issued share capital, or controls more than half of the voting power, or controls the composition of
the board of directors.
In the Company’s separate financial statements, investments in subsidiary companies are accounted for at cost
less any impairment losses.
A list of the Group’s subsidiary companies is shown in Note 15.
Principles of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries as
at the balance sheet date. The financial statements of the subsidiaries used in the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements are prepared for the same reporting date as the Company. Consistent accounting policies are
applied to like transactions and events in similar circumstances.
All intra-group balances, income and expenses and unrealised gains and losses resulting from intra-group
transactions are eliminated in full.
Acquisitions of subsidiaries are accounted for by applying the purchase method. Identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values
at the acquisition date. Adjustments to those fair values relating to previously held interests are treated as a
revaluation and recognised in equity. Any excess of the cost of business combination over the Group’s share in
the net fair value of the acquired subsidiary’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities is recorded as
goodwill on the balance sheet. The accounting policy for goodwill is set out in Note 2.8. Any excess of the Group’s
share in the net fair value of the acquired subsidiary’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over the
cost of business combination is recognised as income in the income statement on the date of acquisition.
Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the Group obtains control, and
continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

2.5

Transactions with minority interests
Minority interests represent the portion of profit or loss and net assets in subsidiaries not held by the Group and
are presented separately in the consolidated income statement and within equity in the consolidated balance
sheet, separately from parent shareholders’ equity. Transactions with minority interests are accounted for using the
entity concept method, whereby, transactions with minority interests are accounted for as transactions with equity
holders. On acquisition of minority interests, the difference between the consideration and book value of the share
of the net assets acquired is reflected as being a transaction between owners and recognised directly in equity.
Gain or loss on disposal to minority interests is recognised directly in equity.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 July 2009

2.

Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.6

Functional and foreign currency
(a)

Functional currency
Items included in the financial statements of each entity in the Group are measured using the currency of
the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (“the functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in Singapore Dollar, which is the Company’s functional currency.

(b)

Foreign currency transactions
Transactions in a currency other than the functional currency (“foreign currency”) are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Currency translation
gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-end
exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the
income statement.

(c)

Foreign currency translation
The results and financial position of group entities (none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary
economy) that have a functional currency different from the presentation currency are translated into the
presentation currency as follows:
-

Assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented are translated at the closing exchange rate at
the date of the balance sheet;

-

Income and expenses for each income statement are translated at the average exchange rate; and

-

All resulting exchange differences are taken to the foreign currency translation reserve within equity.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and
liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the closing exchange rate.
(d)

Consolidation adjustments
On consolidation, currency translation differences arising from the net investment in foreign operations, and
borrowings and other currency instruments designated as hedges of such investments, are taken to foreign
currency translation reserve. When a foreign operation is disposed of, such currency translation differences
are recognised in the income statement as part of the gain or loss on disposal.

2.7

Property, plant and equipment
(a)

Measurement
All items of property, plant and equipment are initially recorded at cost. The cost of an item of property,
plant and equipment is recognised as an asset if, and only if, it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.
Subsequent to recognition, plant and equipment and furniture and fixtures are measured at cost less
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.
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2.

Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.7

Property, plant and equipment (cont’d)
(a)

Measurement (cont’d)
The cost of property, plant and equipment includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition
of the items. Dismantlement, removal or restoration costs are included as part of the cost of property, plant
and equipment if the obligation for dismantlement, removal or restoration is incurred as a consequence of
acquiring or using the asset.

(b)

Depreciation
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment is calculated using a straight-line method to allocate the
depreciable amounts over their estimated useful lives. The estimated useful lives are as follows:
Useful lives
Computer equipment

3 years

Office and operating equipment

3 years

Furniture and fixtures

Shorter of 6 years or the lease term

Leasehold improvement and renovation

Shorter of 6 years or the lease term

Plant and equipment

Shorter of 6 years or the lease term

Fully depreciated assets are retained in the financial statements until they are no longer in use.
The carrying values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable.
The residual value, useful life and depreciation method are reviewed at each financial year-end to ensure that
the amount, method and period of depreciation are consistent with previous estimates and the expected
pattern of consumption of the future economic benefits embodied in the items of property, plant and
equipment.
(c)

Subsequent expenditure
Subsequent expenditure relating to property, plant and equipment that has already been recognised is
added to the carrying amount of the asset when it is probable that future economic benefits, in excess
of the standard of performance of the asset before the expenditure was made, will flow to the Group and
the cost can be reliably measured. Other subsequent expenditure is recognised as an expense during the
financial year in which it is incurred.

(d)

Disposal
An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic
benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on derecognition of the asset is included in
the income statement in the year the asset is derecognised.
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For the financial year ended 31 July 2009

2.

Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.8

Intangible assets
Other intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired separately are measured initially at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a
business combination is their fair value as at the date of acquisition. Following initial acquisition, intangible assets
are measured at cost less any accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.
Intangible assets with finite useful lives are amortised over the estimated useful lives and assessed for impairment
whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and the
amortisation method are reviewed at least at each financial year-end.
Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives or not yet available for use are tested for impairment annually, or more
frequently if the events and circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired either individually or
at the cash-generating unit level. Such intangible assets are not amortised. The useful life of an intangible asset
with an indefinite useful life is reviewed annually to determine whether the useful life assessment continues to be
supportable.
Franchises and licences
Acquired franchises and licences are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment
losses (Note 2.9). Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate the cost of the franchise/
licence over the term of the franchise/licence.

2.9

Impairment of non-financial assets
The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If any
such indication exists, or when annual impairment assessment for an asset is required, the Group makes an
estimate of the asset’s recoverable amount.
An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash-generating unit’s fair value less costs to sell and
its value in use and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are
largely independent of those from other assets. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows expected
to be generated by the asset are discounted to their present value. Where the carrying amount of an asset exceeds
its recoverable amount, the asset is written down to its recoverable amount.
Impairment losses are recognised in the income statement except for assets that are previously revalued where the
revaluation was taken to equity. In this case the impairment is also recognised in equity up to the amount of any
previous revaluation.
An assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed
only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last
impairment loss was recognised. If that is the case, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable
amount. That increase cannot exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation,
had no impairment loss been recognised previously. Such reversal is recognised in the income statement.
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2.

Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.10

Financial assets
Financial assets are recognised on the balance sheet when, and only when, the Group becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the financial instrument.
When financial assets are recognised initially, they are measured at fair value, plus, in the case of financial assets
not at fair value through profit or loss, directly attributable transaction costs.
A financial asset is derecognised where the contractual right to receive cash flows from the asset has expired. On
derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference between the carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received and any cumulative gain or loss that has been recognised directly in equity is recognised in
the income statement.
All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised or derecognised on the trade date i.e.,the
date that the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales
of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the period generally established by regulation or convention
in the marketplace concerned.
Loans and receivables
Financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market are classified as loans
and receivables. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method. Gains and losses are recognised in the income statement when the loans and receivables
are derecognised or impaired, and through the amortisation process.

2.11

Impairment of financial assets
The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset is
impaired.
(a)

Assets carried at amortised cost
If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on financial assets carried at amortised cost has been
incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and
the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest
rate. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account. The impairment
loss is recognised in the income statement.
When the asset becomes uncollectible, the carrying amount of impaired financial assets is reduced directly
or if an amount was charged to the allowance account, the amounts charged to the allowance account are
written off against the carrying value of the financial asset.
To determine whether there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on financial assets has been
incurred, the Group considers factors such as the probability of insolvency or significant financial difficulties
of the debtor and default or significant delay in payments.
If in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment
loss is reversed to the extent that the carrying amount of the asset does not exceed its amortised cost at
the reversal date. The amount of reversal is recognised in the income statement.
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2.

Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.11

Impairment of financial assets (cont’d)
(b)

Assets carried at cost
If there is objective evidence (such as significant adverse changes in the business environment where
the issuer operates, probability of insolvency or significant financial difficulties of the issuer) that an
impairment loss on financial assets carried at cost has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured
as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows
discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such impairment losses are not
reversed in subsequent periods.

2.12

Cash and cash equivalent
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand.
Cash and cash equivalents carried in the balance sheet are classified and accounted as loans and receivables
under FRS 39. The accounting policy for this category of financial assets is stated in Note 2.10.

2.13

Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs incurred in bringing the inventories to
their present location and condition are accounted for as follows:

2.14

–

Cost is determined on a weighted average basis.

–

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less selling expenses.

Provision
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation as a result of a past event, it is probable that
an outflow of economic resources will be required to settle the obligation and the amount of the obligation can be
estimated reliably.
Provisions are reviewed at each balance sheet date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. If it is no
longer probable that an outflow of economic resources will be required to settle the obligation, the provision is
reversed. If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre tax rate
that reflects, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. When discounting is used, the increase in the
provision due to the passage of time is recognised as a finance cost.

2.15

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are recognised on the balance sheet when, and only when, the Group becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the financial instrument.
Financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value, plus, in the case of financial liabilities other than derivatives,
directly attributable transaction costs.
Subsequent to initial recognition, all financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method, except for derivatives, which are measured at fair value.
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is extinguished. For financial liabilities other
than derivatives, gains and losses are recognised in the income statement when the liabilities are derecognised,
and through the amortisation process. Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of derivatives are
recognised in the income statement. Net gains or losses on derivatives include exchange differences.
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2.

Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.16

Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs are recognised in the income statement as incurred except to the extent that they are capitalised.
Borrowing costs are capitalised if they are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of
a qualifying asset. Capitalisation of borrowing costs commences when the activities to prepare the asset for its
intended use or sale are in progress and the expenditures and borrowing costs are incurred. Borrowing costs are
capitalised until the assets are ready for their intended use or sale.

2.17

Employee benefits
(a)

Defined contribution plans
The Group participates in the national pension schemes as defined by the laws of the countries in which
it has operations. In particular, the Singapore companies in the Group make contributions to the Central
Provident Fund scheme in Singapore, a defined contribution pension scheme. Contributions to defined
contribution pension schemes are recognised as an expense in the period in which the related service is
performed.

(b)

Employee leave entitlement
Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised as a liability when they accrue to employees. The
estimated liability for leave is recognised for services rendered by employees up to the balance sheet date.

2.18

Operating leases
Leases of assets in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are
classified as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives received from the
lessor) are taken to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.
When an operating lease is terminated before the lease period has expired, any payment required to be made to
the lessor by way of penalty is recognised as an expense in the period in which termination takes place.

2.19

Revenue recognition
Revenue for the Group comprises the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for the sale of goods
and rendering of services, net of goods and services tax, rebates and discounts, and after eliminating sales within
the Group. Revenue is recognised as follows:
(a)

Sale of goods
Revenue from sale of goods is recognised when the Group has delivered the products to the customers, the
customers have accepted the products and collectibility of the related receivables is reasonably assured.

(b)

Sponsorship income
Sponsorship income is recognised upon achievement of specific targets set by the suppliers.

(c)

Interest income
Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method.
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2.

Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.20

Income taxes
(a)

Current tax
Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the
taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or
substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.
Current taxes are recognised in the income statement except that tax relating to items recognised directly in
equity is recognised directly in equity.

(b)

Deferred tax
Deferred income tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences at the balance sheet
date between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting
purposes.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised for all temporary differences, except:
Where the deferred tax arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that
is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting profit nor
taxable profit or loss;
In respect of temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and
interests in joint ventures, where the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be
controlled by the Group and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future; and
In respect of deductible temporary differences and carry-forward of unused tax credits and unused
tax losses, if it is not probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences and carry-forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised.
The carrying amount of deferred tax asset is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred
tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at each balance sheet date and
are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax
asset to be utilised.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year when
the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or
substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.
Deferred taxes are recognised in the income statement except that deferred tax relating to items recognised
directly in equity is recognised directly in equity and deferred tax arising from a business combination is
adjusted against goodwill on acquisition.
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2.

Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.20

Income taxes
(c)

Goods and services tax (“GST”)
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST except:
Where the GST incurred in a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from the taxation
authority, in which case the sales tax is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or
as part of the expense item as applicable; and
Receivables and payables that are stated with the amount of GST included.
The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of
receivables or payables in the balance sheet.

2.21

Segment reporting
A business segment is a distinguishable component of the Group that is engaged in providing products or services
that are subject to risks and returns that are different from those of other business segments. A geographical
segment is a distinguishable component of the Group that is engaged in providing products or services within a
particular economic environment and that is subject to risks and returns that are different from those of components
operating in other economic environments.
The Group is substantially in one business segment, namely lifestyle and entertainment, and all its subsidiaries are
in Singapore, accordingly, no segment reporting is presented.

2.22

Share capital
Proceeds from issuance of ordinary shares are recognised as share capital in equity. Incremental costs directly
attributable to the issuance of ordinary shares are deducted against share capital.

2.23

Dividend
Interim dividends are recorded during the financial year in which they are declared payable. Final dividends are
recorded during the financial year in which the dividends are approved by the shareholders.

2.24

Contingencies
A contingent liability or asset is a possible obligation or asset that arises from past events and whose existence will
be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of uncertain future event(s) not wholly within the control of
the Group.
Contingent liabilities and assets are not recognised on the balance sheet of the Group.
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3.

Significant accounting judgements and estimates
The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the disclosure of
contingent liabilities at the reporting date. However, uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could
result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of the asset or liability affected
in the future.

3.1

Judgements made in applying accounting policies
In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following judgements, apart
from those involving estimations, which has the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial
statements:
Income taxes
Significant judgement is involved in determining the Group-wide provision for income taxes. There are certain
transactions and computations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course
of business. In addition, the Group uses the group relief system for the purpose of transferring current year
unabsorbed capital allowance and the current year unabsorbed tax losses for certain subsidiary companies against
the current year taxable profits of other subsidiary companies belonging to the Group. The Group recognises
liabilities for expected tax issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax
outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recognised, such differences will impact
the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made. The carrying amount
of the Group’s income tax payables and deferred tax liabilities at the balance sheet date was $4,000 (2008: $4,000)
and $109,000 (2008: $294,000) respectively.

3.2

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the balance sheet
date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year are discussed below:
(a)

Impairment of investments in and amount due from subsidiaries
The Company assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that the investments in and
amount due from subsidiaries may be impaired. This requires an estimation of the value in use of the cash
generating units. Estimating the value in use requires the Company to make an estimate of the expected
future cash flows from the cash generating units and also to choose a suitable discount rate in order to
calculate the present value of those cash flows. The carrying amount of the Company’s investment in and
amount due from subsidiaries as at 31 July 2009 are $1,000,000 (2008: $3,200,000) and $5,032,000 (2008:
$15,828,000), respectively.

(b)

Impairment of intangible assets
On an annual basis, the Group determines whether its franchises and licenses are impaired. This requires
an estimation of the value in use of the cash generating units to which the franchises and licenses are
allocated. Estimating the value in use requires the Group to make an estimate of the expected future cash
flows from the cash generating units and also to choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the
present value of those cash flows. The carrying amount of the Group’s franchises and licenses as at 31 July
2009 is $13,000 (2008: $690,000).
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3.

Significant accounting judgements and estimates (cont’d)

3.2

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (cont’d)
(c)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment
The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that the property, plant and
equipment may be impaired. Property, plant and equipment are tested for impairment when there are
indicators that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable.
When recoverable amounts based on value in use calculations are undertaken, management must estimate
the expected future cash flow from the asset or cash generating unit and choose a suitable discount rate in
order to calculate the present value of that cash flow.
The carrying amounts of the Group’s property, plant and equipment as at 31 July 2009 is $6,789,000 (2008 :
$13,283,000).

4.

Revenue
Revenue is represented by the following:
Group
2009
$’000

2008
$’000

30,268

36,870

113

148

Membership revenue

–

1,017

Merchandise revenue

18

13

30,399

38,048

Food and beverage revenue
Tobacco product revenue

5.

Other operating income
Group
2009
$’000

2008
$’000

Service charge surplus

998

3,330

Sponsorship income

763

642

Miscellaneous revenue

52

309

669

2,070

4,641
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6.

Amortisation and depreciation
Group
2009
$’000

2008
$’000

45

248

4,542

4,493

4,587

4,741

6,626

10,989

Employer’s contribution to Central Provident Fund

776

1,105

Directors’ fees

150

135

Other benefits

2,768

2,486

10,320

14,715

59

269

Allowance for doubtful debts

142

341

Bad debts written off (Note 14)

270

250

Prepayment written off

792

383

Amortisation of intangible assets
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

7.

Employee benefits
Wages and salaries

8.

Finance costs
Interest expense on bank borrowings

9.

Other operating expenses
The following items have been included in arriving at other operating expenses:

Impairment of intangible assets
Property, plant and equipment written off
Net foreign exchange (gain)/loss

632

186

5,229

1,628

(118)

80
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10.

Income tax (credit)/expense
Major components of income tax (credit)/expense
The major components of income tax (credit)/expense for the years ended 31 July 2009 and 2008 are :
Group
2009
$’000

2008
$’000

7

–

(116)

5

(109)

5

Income statement:
Current income tax:
Underprovision in respect of previous years
Deferred income tax:
Origination and reversal of temporary differences
Income tax (credit)/expense recognised in the income statement

The reconciliation between tax credit and the product of accounting loss multiplied by the applicable corporate tax
rate for the years ended 31 July 2009 and 2008 are as follows:
Loss before taxation
Tax credit at the applicable tax rate of 17% (2008 : 18%)

(11,116)

(7,765)

(1,890)

(1,398)

Adjustments:
Non-deductible expenses

1,043

847

Income not subject to taxation

(85)

(27)

Effect of partial tax exemption and tax relief

(73)

(109)

Underprovision in respect of previous years

7

–

895

714

(6)

(22)

(109)

5

Deferred tax assets not recognised
Others
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11.

Deferred tax
Deferred income tax as at 31 July relates to the following:
Group
2009
$’000

2008
$’000

365

266

(256)

(22)

Deferred tax liability:
Differences in depreciation
Deferred tax assets:
Provisions
Others

Net deferred tax liability

–

(20)

(256)

(42)

109

224

During the financial year, in relation to the Singapore group relief system, the Company utilised tax losses and
capital allowances of approximately $Nil (2008 : $461,000) and $1,334,000 (2008 : $943,000) respectively, to set
off the assessable income of certain companies within the Group. As at 31 July 2009, the Group has unabsorbed
tax losses and capital allowances of approximately $11,827,000 (2008: $7,504,000) and $938,000 (2008 : $Nil)
respectively, that are available for offset against future taxable profits of the companies in which these arose for
which no deferred tax asset is recognised due to the uncertainty of its recoverability. The use of these tax losses
and capital allowances are subject to agreement of the tax authorities.

12.

Loss per share
Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the net loss attributable to equity holders of the Company by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year.
Diluted loss per share is the same as basic loss per share as there are no dilutive potential ordinary shares.

Net loss attributable to members of LifeBrandz Ltd
Basic loss per share (cents per share)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for basic earnings
per share computation

2009

2008

$’000

$’000

(11,007)

(7,390)

(1.50)

(1.01)

No. of
shares
’000

No. of
shares
’000

734,000

734,000
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13.

Property, plant and equipment

Group

Office and
Computer operating
equipment equipment
$’000
$’000

Furniture
and
fixtures
$’000

Leasehold
improvement
and
Plant and
renovation equipment
$’000
$’000

Total
$’000

Cost
At 1 August 2007

941

419

2,338

13,132

4,708

21,538

46

68

438

1,526

477

2,555

Written off

–

–

(395)

(1,404)

(503)

(2,302)

Disposals

–

–

(3)

–

–

(3)

987

487

2,378

13,254

4,682

21,788

Additions

28

33

379

2,242

598

3,280

Written off

(609)

(168)

(1,171)

(8,190)

(2,951)

(13,089)

Disposals

–

(9)

–

–

–

(9)

406

343

1,586

7,306

2,329

11,970

At 1 August 2007

480

197

478

2,604

930

4,689

Depreciation

268

127

516

2,646

936

4,493

Written off

–

–

(118)

(401)

(155)

(674)

Disposals

–

–

(3)

–

–

(3)

Additions

At 31 July 2008 and 1 August 2008

At 31 July 2009
Accumulated depreciation

At 31 July 2008 and 1 August 2008

748

324

873

4,849

1,711

8,505

Depreciation

207

111

507

2,768

949

4,542

Written off

(552)

(136)

(735)

(4,684)

(1,753)

(7,860)

Disposals

–

(6)

–

–

–

(6)

403

293

645

2,933

907

5,181

At 31 July 2009

3

50

941

4,373

1,422

6,789

At 31 July 2008

239

163

1,505

8,405

2,971

13,283

At 31 July 2009
Net book value
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13.

Property, plant and equipment (cont’d)

Computer
equipment

Office
and
operating
equipment

Furniture
and
fixtures

Leasehold
improvement
and
renovation

Total

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

89

64

16

223

392

Additions

–

–

8

–

8

Written off

(2)

–

–

–
–

(2)

At 31 July 2008,
1 August 2008 and 31 July 2009

87

64

24

223

398

At 1 August 2007

61

47

12

156

276

Depreciation

20

17

8

67

112

Written off

(1)

–

–

–

(1)

At 31 July 2008 and 1 August 2008

80

64

20

223

387

6

–

3

–

9

86

64

23

223

396

At 31 July 2009

1

–

1

–

2

At 31 July 2008

7

–

4

–

11

Company

Cost
At 1 August 2007

Accumulated depreciation

Depreciation
At 31 July 2009
Net book value
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14.

Trade and other receivables
Group

Company
2009
2008
$’000
$’000

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

351

899

7

–

Current:
Trade receivables:
Third parties
Amount due from subsidiaries

–

–

135

5,004

351

899

142

5,004

194

284

6

233

–

–

3,897

9,824

194

284

3,903

10,057

545

1,183

4,045

15,061

–

–

1,000

1,000

545

1,183

5,045

16,061

Add: Cash and cash equivalents (Note 19)

2,583

12,184

1,357

9,855

Total loans and receivables

3,128

13,367

6,402

25,916

270

250

–

–

Other receivables:
Third parties
Amount due from subsidiaries

Total trade and other receivables (current)
Non-current:
Other receivables:
Loan to a subsidiary
Total trade and other receivables
(current and non-current)

Bad debts written off directly to income
statement (Note 9)
Trade receivables (current)

Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on 30 to 60 days’ terms. They are recognised at their
original invoice amounts which represent their fair values on initial recognition.
Amount due from subsidiaries (current)
Amounts receivable from subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.
Other receivables (current)
Other receivables from subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.
Loan to a subsidiary (non-current)
Loan to a subsidiary is unsecured, interest-free and has no fixed term of repayment.
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14.

Trade and other receivables (cont’d)
Receivables that are past due but not impaired
The Group has trade and other receivables amounting to $221,000 (2008: $749,000) and $Nil (2008 : $284,000) that
are past due at the balance sheet date but not impaired. These receivables are unsecured and the analysis of their
aging at the balance sheet date is as follows:
Group
2009
$’000

2008
$’000

Company
2009
2008
$’000
$’000

Trade receivables past due:
30 to 60 days

12

87

–

257

61-90 days

16

43

–

257

91-120 days

4

74

–

–

189

545

–

3,977

221

749

–

4,491

30 to 60 days

–

–

2

442

61-90 days

–

–

1

28

91-120 days

–

–

–

–

More than 120 days

–

284

3,312

9,090

–

284

3,315

9,560

More than 120 days

Other receivables past due:

Receivables that are impaired
The Group’s trade receivables that are impaired at the balance sheet date and the movement of the allowance
accounts used to record the impairment are as follows:
Group

Company
2009
2008
$’000
$’000

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

Trade receivables – nominal amounts

412

552

8,677

–

Less: Allowance for impairment

(142)

(365)

(8,677)

–

270

187

–

–

Movement in allowance accounts:
At 1 August

365

24

–

–

Charge for the year

142

341

8,677

–

Written off

(365)

–

–

–

At 31 July

142

365

8,677

–
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14.

Trade and other receivables (cont’d)
Receivables that are impaired (cont’d)
Group

Other receivables – nominal amounts
Less: Allowance for impairment

Movement in allowance accounts:
At 1 August
Charge for the year
At 31 July

Company
2009
2008
$’000
$’000

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

–
–
–

–
–
–

7,161
(7,139)
22

–
–
–

–
–

–
–

–
7,139

–
–

–

–

7,139

–

Trade and other receivables that are individually determined to be impaired at the balance sheet date relate to
receivables that are in significant financial difficulties and have defaulted on payments. These receivables are not
secured by any collateral or credit enhancements.
At the balance sheet date, the Company have provided an allowance of $15,816,000 (2008: $Nil) for impairment of
the amount due from subsidiaries with a nominal amount of $15,838,000 (2008: $Nil). These subsidiaries have been
suffering financial losses for the prior and current financial years.

15.

Investments in subsidiaries
Company
2009
2008
$’000
$’000

60

Shares, at cost

3,200

3,200

Impairment losses

(2,200)

–

1,000

3,200
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15.

Investments in subsidiaries (cont’d)

Name of companies

Principal activities

Country of
incorporation
and place of
business

Proportion (%)
of ownership
interest

Cost of
investment
by the Company

2009

2008

2009

2008

%

%

$’000

$’000

Singapore

100

100

*

*

Dormant

British Virgin
Islands

100

100

*

*

Orientstar Group
Limited (c)

Intellectual property licensing
and management

British Virgin
Islands

100

100

*

*

LB Investments
Limited (b)

Intellectual property licensing
and management

Mauritius

100

100

*

*

Lifestyle and entertainment
related businesses

Singapore

100

100

2,000

2,000

Lifestyle and entertainment
businesses

Singapore

100

100

200

200

Palms Development
Pte. Ltd. (a)

Lifestyle and entertainment
businesses

Singapore

100

100

200

200

Cannery Holding Pte.
Ltd. (a)

Investment holding

Singapore

80

80

800

800

3,200

3,200

Held by the Company
Brandz+ Pte. Ltd.

(a)

Brandzplus Inc

Design, layout and production
of graphics and web-marketing
information and production of
all marketing information and
collaterals and shared services

(c)

Luminox Pte. Ltd.

Balcony Pte. Ltd.

(a)

(a)

Held by Cannery
Holding Pte. Ltd.
Cannery Leisure Pte.
Ltd. (a)

Lifestyle and entertainment
businesses

Singapore

80

80

*

*

The Cannery Pte. Ltd.
(formerly known as
Ministry of Sound Pte.
Ltd.) (a)

Lifestyle and entertainment
businesses

Singapore

80

80

*

*

Mercier Group Pte.
Ltd. (a)

Lifestyle and entertainment
businesses

Singapore

80

80

*

*

Tribeca Leisure Pte.
Ltd. (a)

Lifestyle and entertainment
businesses

Singapore

80

80

*

*

(a)
(b)
(c)

*

Audited by Ernst & Young LLP, Singapore.
Audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers, Mauritius.
Not required to be audited under the laws of the country of incorporation.
denotes less than $1,000.
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16.

Intangible assets
Franchises
and licenses
$’000
Cost:
At 1 August 2007

1,938

Additions

244

At 31 July 2008 and 1 August 2008

2,182

Additions

–

At 31 July 2009

2,182

Accumulated amortisation and impairment:
At 1 August 2007

1,058

Amortisation

248

Impairment loss

186

At 31 July 2008 and 1 August 2008

1,492

Amortisation

45

Impairment loss

632

At 31 July 2009

2,169

Net carrying amount:

17.

At 31 July 2008

690

At 31 July 2009

13

Inventories
Group
2009
$’000

2008
$’000

449

686

7,343

9,868

6

11

Balance sheet:
Finished goods at cost
Income statement:
Inventories recognised as an expenses
Inclusive of the following charge:
- Inventories written-down

The directors are of the view that no allowance for impairment is required on these fast moving inventory items.
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18.

Prepayments
Group
2008
$’000

981

256

462

19

Advance payments for property, plant and equipment

–

549

–

549

Advance payments for intangible assets

–

32

–

32

981

837

462

600

Prepayments

19.

Company
2009
2008
$’000
$’000

2009
$’000

Cash and cash equivalents
Group

Cash at bank and in hand
Short-term bank deposits *

*

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

Company
2009
2008
$’000
$’000

2,583

3,243

1,357

914

–

8,941

–

8,941

2,583

12,184

1,357

9,855

Short-term bank deposits with financial institutions are denominated in Singapore Dollar and have an
average maturity of 5 weeks (2008 : 5 weeks) from the end of the financial year with weighted average
effective interest rate of 0.80% per annum (2008 : 0.80% per annum). During the financial year ended 31
July 2008, a short-term deposit of $533,000 was pledged to a bank as security for bank borrowings.

For the purposes of the consolidated cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise the following:
Group

Cash and bank balances
Short-term bank deposit pledged as security
Cash and cash equivalents per cash flow statement
*

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

2,583

12,184

–

(533)

2,583

11,651

For the financial year ended 31 July 2008, included in the short-term bank deposits was $7,000,000 from the
loan drawndown by the Group to finance investment in new outlet at “The Venetian Macao” in Macao S.A.R.
(Note 21).
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20.

Trade and other payables
Group

Company
2009
2008
$’000
$’000

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

4,814

2,453

Third parties

32

233

35

–

Subsidiaries

–

–

4,455

2,026

1,921

3,698

384

284

6,767

6,384

5,155

2,462

191

7,212

191

7,212

6,958

13,596

5,346

9,674

Trade payables:
Third parties

281

152

Other payables:

Accrued operating expenses
Add: Borrowings (Note 21)
Total financial liabilities carried at amortised cost
Trade payables/other payables

These amounts are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 30 to 60 days’ term.
Amount due to subsidiaries
Amount payable to subsidiaries is unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on demand.

21.

Borrowings
Group

Company
2009
2008
$’000
$’000

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

191

2,545

191

2,545

Bank borrowings

–

4,667

–

4,667

Total borrowings *

191

7,212

191

7,212

Current:
Bank borrowings
Non-current:

*
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For the financial year ended 31 July 2008, included in total borrowings is $7,000,000 related to a Singapore
dollar denominated loan agreement entered by the Group with a bank to finance investment in new outlet at
“The Venetian Macao” in Macao S.A.R. The loan has been unsecured and fully repaid in October 2009.
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21.

Borrowings (cont’d)
(a)

Maturity of borrowings
Group

Less than one year
Later than one year and not later than five years

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

191

2,545

–
191

Company
2009
2008
$’000
$’000
191

2,545

4,667

–

4,667

7,212

191

7,212

The current borrowings have an average maturity of 3.1 months (2008 : 9.5 months) from the end of the
financial year.
(b)

Interest rate
The weighted average effective interest rates of total borrowings at the balance sheet date are as follows:

Bank borrowings

22.

2009
%

2008
%

2.9

3.6

Share capital
2009
No. of
shares
’000

734,000

2008
Amount
$’000

No. of
shares
’000

Amount
$’000

42,021

734,000

42,021

Issued and fully paid:
Balance at beginning and end of financial year

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as and when declared by the Company. All ordinary
shares carry one vote per share without restrictions.

23.

Commitments
Operating lease commitments
The Group leases various offices, shops and other premises under non-cancellable operating lease agreements.
The leases have varying terms, escalation clauses and renewal rights.
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23.

Commitments (cont’d)
The future aggregate minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases contracted for at the
reporting date but not recognised as liabilities, computed based on the agreed fixed lease rental rates are as
follows:
Group

Company
2009
2008
$’000
$’000

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

Not later than one year

3,694

3,586

477

168

Later than one year but not later than five years

6,072

8,662

630

25

9,766

12,248

1,107

193

Under the terms of certain lease arrangements, the Group shall pay a monthly variable lease rental, computed
based on a certain percentage of monthly gross revenue generated by Group’s operations at the leased premises.
The base lease rental for one lease arrangement increases over the lease term. The Group has incurred $288,513
(2008 : $364,000) of variable lease rental expenses in the current financial year.
The Group has an option for renewal for a further term of three and six years for two lease agreements.

24.

Related party transactions
The key management personnel compensation is as follows:
Group

Salaries and other short-term employee benefits
Post-employment benefits – contribution to Central Provident Fund

2009

2008

$’000

$’000

896

1,232

39

50

935

1,282

Including in the above, total compensation for directors of the Company amounted to $797,000 (2008 : $668,000).
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25.

Financial risk management objectives and policies
The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise bank loans and cash and fixed deposits. The main purpose
of these financial instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s operations. The Group has various other financial
assets and liabilities such as trade receivables and trade payables, which arise directly from its operations.
It is, and has been throughout the year under review, the Group’s policy that no trade in derivative financial
instruments shall be undertaken.
The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are interest rate risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The
Board reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks and they are summarised below:
(a)

Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of the Group’s and the Company’s financial
instruments will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The Group’s and the Company’s
exposure to interest rate risk arises primarily from their loans and borrowings. All of the Group’s and the
Company’s financial assets and liabilities at floating rates are contractually repriced at intervals of less than
6 months (2008: less than 6 months) from the balance sheet date.
The Group’s policy is to manage interest cost using a mix of fixed and floating rate debts.
Sensitivity analysis for interest rate risk
At the balance sheet date, if SGD interest rates had been 100 (2008: 50) basis points higher with all other
variables held constant, the Group’s loss net of tax would have been $2,000 (2008: $36,000) higher, arising
mainly as a result of higher interest expense on floating rate loans and borrowings. The effect on loss net
of tax for the Group is not significant.

(b)

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of loss that may arise on outstanding financial instruments should a counterparty
default on its obligations. The Group’s and the Company’s exposure to credit risk arises primarily from trade
and other receivables. For other financial assets (including cash and cash equivalents), the Group and the
Company minimise credit risk by dealing exclusively with high credit rating counterparties.
The Group’s objective is to seek continual revenue growth while minimising losses incurred due to increased
credit risk exposure. The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third parties. It is the Group’s
policy that all customers who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures. In
addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the Group’s exposure to
bad debts is not significant.

67

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 July 2009

25.

Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)
(b)

Credit risk (cont’d)
Exposure to credit risk
At the balance sheet date, the Group’s and the Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk is represented
by the carrying amounts of each class of financial assets recognised in the balance sheets.
Credit risk concentration profile
The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk.
Financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired
Trade and other receivables that are neither past due nor impaired are creditworthy debtors with good
payment record with the Group. Cash and cash equivalents that are neither past due nor impaired are
placed with or entered into with reputable financial institutions or companies with high credit ratings and no
history of default.
Financial assets that are either past due or impaired
Information regarding financial assets that are either past due or impaired is disclosed in Note 14 (Trade and
other receivables).

(c)

Liquidity risk
The Group maintains sufficient cash and internally generated cash flows to finance their activities.
The Group monitors its liquidity risk and maintains adequate liquid financial assets to finance the Group’s
operations and to mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows.
At the balance sheet date, 100% (2008: 35%) of the Group’s borrowings (Note 21) will mature in less than
one year based on the carrying amount reflected in the financial statements. 100% (2008: 35%) of the
Company’s borrowings will mature less than one year at the balance sheet date.
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25.

Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)
(c)

Liquidity risk (cont’d)
The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s and the Company’s financial liabilities at the
balance sheet based on the contractual undiscounted payments.

1 year or
less
$’000

2009
1 to 5
years
$’000

Total
$’000

1 year or
less
$’000

2008
1 to 5
years
$’000

Total
$’000

6,767

–

6,767

191

–

191

6,384

–

6,384

2,545

4,667

7,212

6,958

–

6,958

8,929

4,667

13,596

5,155

–

5,155

2,462

–

2,462

191

–

191

2,545

4,667

7,212

5,346

–

5,346

5,007

4,667

9,674

Group
Trade and other payables
Borrowings

Company
Trade and other payables
Borrowings

26.

Capital management
The Group’s objective when managing capital is to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in
order to provide returns for shareholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.
The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic conditions.
To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return
capital to shareholders or issue new shares. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes during
the years ended 31 July 2009 and 31 July 2008.
The Group has raised funds via rights issue amounting to $5.1 million in August 2009.
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27.

Fair value of financial instruments
The fair value of a financial instrument is the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a current
transaction between knowledgeable willing parties in an arm’s length transaction, other than in a forced or
liquidation sale.
Financial instruments whose carrying amounts approximate fair values
Management has determined that the carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables,
prepayments, amounts due from subsidiary companies, trade and other payables and other liabilities, based on
their notional amounts, reasonably approximate their fair values because these are mostly short-term in nature or
are repriced frequently.
There were no significant differences between the fair values and the carrying amounts of the borrowings of the
Group as at 31 July 2009.
Financial instruments carried at other than fair value
The loan to a subsidiary has no repayment terms and is repayable only when the cash flows of the borrower
permits. Accordingly, the fair value of the loan is not determinable as the timing of the future cash flows arising
from the loan cannot be estimated reliably.

28.

Subsequent events
On 19 August 2009, 1,101,000,000 rights shares have been allocated and issued by the Group. The receipts of
net proceeds of up to $5.1 million from the rights issue (after deducted expenses of approximately $0.4 million in
connection with the rights issue) is based on a rights ratio of 3 for 2 at a rights price of $0.005 per shares.

29.

Authorisation of financial statements
The financial statements for the financial year ended 31 July 2009 were authorised for issue in accordance with a
resolution of the directors on 21 October 2009.
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Issued and fully paid-up capital
Number of shares
Class of shares

:
:
:

47,075,863
1,835,000,000
Ordinary shares of equal voting right

DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDERS BY SIZE OF SHAREHOLDINGS AS AT 16 OCTOBER 2009

SIZE OF SHAREHOLDINGS

NO. OF
SHAREHOLDERS

1 - 999
1,000 - 10,000
10,001 - 1,000,000
1,000,001 AND ABOVE

% OF
SHAREHOLDERS

NO. OF SHARES

% OF ISSUED
SHARE CAPITAL

3
941
2,737
174

0.08
24.41
71.00
4.51

330
4,307,000
466,081,182
1,364,611,488

0.00
0.23
25.40
74.37

3,855

100.00

1,835,000,000

100.00

NO. OF SHARES

% OF HOLDINGS

TWENTY LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS AS AT 16 OCTOBER 2009
NO.

NAME OF SHAREHOLDER

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20

C.H.Y REGALIA LIMITED
HAN SENG JUAN
LIM & TAN SECURITIES PTE LTD
LOH KIM KANG DAVID
OCBC SECURITIES PRIVATE LTD
DBS NOMINEES PTE LTD
LEE SENG CHOON
HL BANK NOMINEES (SINGAPORE) PTE LTD
CITIBANK NOMINEES SINGAPORE PTE LTD
KENNETH GOH TZU SEOH
TAN SEE TEE
KIM ENG SECURITIES PTE. LTD.
UNITED OVERSEAS BANK NOMINEES PTE LTD
UOB KAY HIAN PTE LTD
LOW POH KUAN
CIMB-GK SECURITIES PTE. LTD.
TAN SZE SENG
TAN ENG CHUA
WONG YUN HEY
TAN HUI SONG

252,692,500
84,813,698
81,360,000
79,343,000
74,823,990
42,335,300
36,202,000
27,497,000
26,415,000
23,532,000
23,031,000
22,335,500
19,843,500
19,450,000
16,995,000
16,317,500
16,293,000
15,539,000
14,264,000
13,718,000

13.77
4.62
4.43
4.32
4.08
2.31
1.97
1.50
1.44
1.28
1.26
1.22
1.08
1.06
0.93
0.89
0.89
0.85
0.78
0.75

906,800,988

49.43
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AS PER REGISTER OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AS AT 16 OCTOBER 2009
No.

Name

1
2

C.H.Y Regalia Limited
Ang Yee Lim *

*

No. of shares held as Direct

No. of shares held as Deemed

252,692,500
–

–
252,692,500

Mr Ang Yee Lim has a controlling interests in C.H.Y Regalia Limited and therefore is deemed to have an interest in the 252,692,500
ordinary shares held by C.H.Y Regalia Limited.

SHAREHOLDING HELD IN THE HANDS OF PUBLIC
Based on information available to the Company as at 16 October 2009, approximately 80% of the issued ordinary shares
of the Company were held by the public and therefore, Rule 723 of the Listing Manual, issued by the Singapore Exchange
Securities Trading Limited, is complied with.
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Annual General Meeting of LIFEBRANDZ LTD. will be held at Copthorne Orchid
Hotel Singapore, Mokara Room, Level 1, 214 Dunearn Road, Singapore 299526 on 26 November 2009 at 3.30 p.m. for the
following purposes:-

AS ORDINARY BUSINESS
1.

To receive and, if approved, to adopt the Audited Accounts of the Company for the financial
year ended 31 July 2009 together with the Directors’ Report and Auditors’ Report thereon.

(Resolution 1)

2.

To approve Directors’ fees of S$ 127,319 for the financial year ended 31 July 2009
(2008: S$148,000).

(Resolution 2)

3.

To re-elect Mr. Lee Shieh-Peen Clement who is retiring under Article 107 of the Articles of
Association.

(Resolution 3)

4.

To re-elect Mr. Wong Kok Hoe who is retiring under Article 117 of the Articles of Association.

(Resolution 4)

5.

To re-appoint Messrs Ernst & Young LLP, as auditors of the Company and to authorise the
Directors to fix their remuneration.

(Resolution 5)

6.

To transact any other ordinary business which may be properly transacted at an Annual General
Meeting.

AS SPECIAL BUSINESS
To consider and, if thought fit, to pass the following resolution (with or without amendments) as an Ordinary Resolution :7.

Authority to allot and issue shares
(a)

(b)

(i)

“That pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies Act, Cap. 50, and the listing
rules of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited, approval be and is
hereby given to the Directors of the Company at any time to such persons and
upon such terms and for such purposes as the Directors may in their absolute
discretion deem fit, to:

(ii)

issue shares in the capital of the Company whether by way of rights, bonus or
otherwise;

(iii)

make or grant offers, agreements or options (collectively, “Instruments”) that might
or would require shares to be issued or other transferable rights to subscribe for
or purchase shares including but not limited to the creation and issue of warrants,
debentures or other instruments convertible into shares;

(iv)

issue additional Instruments arising from adjustments made to the number of
Instruments previously issued in the event of rights, bonus or capitalisation issues;
and

(Resolution 6)

(notwithstanding the authority conferred by the shareholders may have ceased to be
in force) issue shares in pursuance of any Instrument made or granted by the Directors
while the authority was in force,
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provided always that
(i)

the aggregate number of shares to be issued pursuant to this resolution (including
shares to be issued in pursuance of Instruments made or granted pursuant to
this resolution) does not exceed 50% of the total number of issued shares
excluding treasury shares of the Company, of which the aggregate number
of shares (including shares to be issued in pursuance of Instruments made or
granted pursuant to this resolution) to be issued other than on a pro rata basis
to shareholders of the Company does not exceed 20% of the total number
of issued shares excluding treasury shares of the Company. Unless prior
shareholder approval is required under the Listing Rules, an issue of treasury
shares will not require further shareholder approval, and will not be included in
the aforementioned limits.

(ii)

For the purpose of this resolution, the total number of issued shares excluding
treasury shares is based on the Company’s total number of issued shares
excluding treasury shares at the time this resolution is passed, after adjusting for;
a)

new shares arising from the conversion or
securities, or

b)

new shares arising from exercising share options or vesting of share
awards outstanding or subsisting at the time this resolution is passed
provided the options or awards were granted in compliance with Part VIII
of Chapter 8 of the Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange Securities
Trading Limited, and

(iii)

any subsequent bonus issue, consolidation or subdivision of the Company’s
shares, and

(iv)

such authority shall, unless revoked or varied by the Company at a general
meeting, continue in force until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting
or the date by which the next Annual General Meeting of the Company is required
by law to be held, whichever is the earlier.”

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD

TOON CHOI FAN
Company Secretary
Singapore
Date: 10 November 2009
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Notes:
(i)

A member of the Company entitled to attend and vote at the Meeting is entitled to appoint not more than two proxies to attend and
vote in his stead. A member of the Company, which is corporation, is entitled to appoint its authorised representative or proxy to
vote on its behalf. A proxy need not be a member of the Company.
The instrument appointing a proxy must be deposited at the Company’s registered office at 390 Havelock Road #05-05 King’s
Centre, Singapore 169662 at least 48 hours before the time of the Meeting.

(ii)

If re-elected under Resolution 3, Mr. Clement Lee Shieh-Peen will remain as a member of the Nominating Comittee.

(iii)

If re-elected under Resolution 4, Mr. Wong Kok Hoe will remain as a member of the Audit Committee and Remuneration
Committee.

(iv)

Resolution 6, if passes, will authorise the Directors of the Company from the date of the above Meeting until the next Annual
General Meeting to issue shares and convertible securities in the Company up to an amount not exceeding in aggregate 50% of
the issued share capital of the Company of which the total number of shares and convertible securities issued other than on a prorata basis to existing shareholders shall not exceed 20% of the issued share capital of the Company at the time the resolution is
passed, for such purposes as they consider would be in the interests of the Company. This authority will, unless revoked or varied
at a general meeting, expire at the next Annual General Meeting of the Company.
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LIFEBRANDZ LTD.

IMPORTANT

(Incorporated in The Republic of Singapore)
Company Registration no. 200311348E

1.

For investors who have used their CPF monies to buy in the
Company’s ordinary shares, this Annual Report is forwarded
to them at the request of their CPF Approved Nominees and is
sent solely FOR INFORMATION ONLY.

2. This Proxy Form is not valid for use by CPF Investors and shall
be ineffective for all intends and purposes if used or purported
to be used by them.

PROXY FORM

3.

CPF Investors who wish to attend the Annual General Meeting
as OBSERVERS have to submit their requests through their
respective Agent banks so that their Agent Banks may register
with the Company Secretary of Lifebrandz Ltd.

I/We

(Name)

of

(Address)

being a *member/members of the above-mentioned Company, hereby appoint

Name

Address

NRIC/
Passport No

Proportion of
shareholdings (%)

and/or (delete as appropriate)

as my/our proxy/proxies to attend and to vote for me/us on my/our behalf at the Annual general Meeting of the
Company to be held at Copthorne Orchid Hotel Singapore, Mokara Room, Level 1, 214 Dunearn Road, Singapore
299526 on 26 November 2009 at 3.30 p.m. and at any adjournment thereof. I/We direct my/our proxy/proxies to vote
for or against the Resolutions to be proposed at the Meeting as hereunder indicated.
No.

Ordinary Resolutions

For

1.

Ordinary Business
To adopt the Audited Accounts, Directors’ Report and Auditors’ Report of the
Company for the financial year ended 31 July 2009.

2.

To approve the payment of Directors’ Fees of S$ 127,319 for the financial year
ended 31 July 2009 (2008: S$148,000)

3.

To re-elect Mr Lee Shieh-Peen Clement as a Director under Article 107

4.

To re-elect Mr Wong Kok Hoe as a Director under Article 117

5.

To re-appoint Messrs Ernst & Young LLP as auditors and authorise Directors to
fix their remuneration

6.

Against

Special Business
To authorise Directors to allot shares pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies
Act, Cap 50 and Rule 806 of the Listing manual of the Singapore Exchange
Securities Trading Limited.

Dated this

day of

2009.
No. of Shares Held

Signature(s) of Member(s)/Common Seal
IMPORTANT: PLEASE READ NOTES OVERLEAF

Notes to the Proxy Form
1.

Please insert the total number of shares held by you. If you have shares entered against your name in the Depository Register
(as defined in Section 130A of the Companies Act, Chapter 50), you should insert that number of shares. If you have share
registered in your name in the Register of Members, you should insert that number of shares. If you have shares entered
against your name in the Depository Register and shares registered in your name in the Register of Members, you should
insert the aggregate number of shares entered against your name in the Depository Register and registered in your name in
the Register of Members. If no number is inserted, the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies shall be deemed to relate to all
the shares held by you.

2.

A member of the Company entitled to attend and vote at a Meeting of the Company is entitled to appoint not more than two
proxies to attend and vote in his stead.

3.

Where a member of the Company appoints two proxies, he shall specify the percentage of his shares to be represented
by each proxy and if no percentage is specified, the first named proxy and is no percentage is specified, the first named
proxy shall be deemed to represent 100 per cent of his shareholding and the second named proxy shall be deemed to be an
alternate to the first named.

4.

A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

5.

The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies together with the letter of power of attorney, if any, under which it is signed or a
duly certified copy thereof, must be deposited at the registered office of the Company at 390 Havelock Road, #05-05 King’s
Centre, Singapore 169662 at least 48 hours before the time appointed for the Annual General Meeting.

6.

A corporation which is a member may authorise by resolution of its directors or other governing body such a person as it
thinks fit to act as its representative at the Ansnual General Meeting, in accordance with Section 179 of the Companies Act,
Chapter 50.

7.

Please indicate with an “X” in the spaces provided whether you wish your vote(s) to be for or against the Resolutions as set
out in the Notice of Annual General Meeting. In the absence of specific directions, the proxy/proxies will vote or abstain as he/
they may think fit, as he/they will on any matter arising at the Annual General Meeting.

8.

The Company shall be entitled to reject the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies if it is incomplete, improperly completed
or illegible or where the true intentions of the appointor are not ascertainable from the instructions of the appointor specified in
the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies. .

9.

In the case of a member whose shares are entered against his name in the Depository Register, the Company may reject any
instrument appointing a proxy or proxies lodged if the member, being the appointor, is not shown to have shares entered
against his name in the Depository Register as at 48 hours before the name appointed for holding the Annual General Meeting,
as certified by The Central Depository (Pte) Limited to the Company.
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